

GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph User Manual



Please read operating manual before installation and operation.

Drawell International Technology Limited Chongqing Drawell Instrument Co., Ltd. Shanghai Drawell Scientific Instrument Co., Ltd.

Address : Suite 2705, Building No.12, Shiyou Road No.1, Yuzhong District, Chongqing China.
Homepage : www.drawell.com.cn
Tel : 0086-023-63268643
Email : sales05@drawell.com.cn

Table of Contents

Instructions	I
Preface	I
Overview	I
Standards	I
Cautions and Warnings	
Supply and Shipment	
Warranty and Repair	III
Management of Radioactive source equipment	
Technical support	IV
Statement	IV
Table of Contents	
1 Overview	3
1.1 GC 2000 Gas Chromatography	
1.1.1 Introduction	4
1.1.2 Essential principles	
1.1.3 Basic functions	5
1.1.4 Basic configuration	
1.1.5 Electronic cable interface	6
1.2 Man-machine interaction system	6
1.2.1 Touch screen	6
1.2.2 GC 2000 acquisition software	
1.2.3 GC 2000 data analysis software	
1.3 Autosampler	7
1.3.1 Autosampler for liquid	7
1.4 Sample inlet	
1.4.1 Split injection mode	
1.4.2 Splitless injection mode	
1.5 Flow and pressure control	9
1.5.1 Introduction to terminology	9
1.5.2 Inlet module electronic pressure/flow control	10
1.5.3 Detector gas flow control	10
1.6 Chromatographic column and column oven	10
1.6.1 Column oven overview	10
1.6.2 Chromatographic column overview	
1.7 Detector	
1.7.1 Hydrogen flame ionization detector (FID)	
1.7.2 Electron capture detector (ECD)	
1.7.3 Flame photometric detector (FPD)	
2 Instrument installation	
2.1 Safety precautions	
2.2 Installation requirements	
2.3 Installation process	
2.3.1 Instrument acceptance	
2.3.2 Instrument placement	
2.3.3 Gas chromatograph installment	
2.3.4 Installment of PC system and workstation	
2.3.5 Connect communication equipment	
2.3.6 Instrument debugging and performance testing	
2.3.7 On-site training for users	
3 Man-machine interaction	
3.1 Touch screen operation	
3.2 Acquisition software operation	
1 I	

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph	1 Overview
3.2.1 Status	
3.2.2 Method	
3.2.3 Single sample	
3.2.4 Sequence	
3.2.5 View	
3.2.6 Control	
3.2.7 Help	
3.3 Data analysis software operation	
3.3.1 Introduction of function bars	
3.3.2 Introduction of shortcut bars	
3.3.3 Qualitative analysis	
3.3.4 Quantitative analysis	
3.3.5 Data analysis	
3.3.6 Report generation	58
4 Instrument operation and maintenance	
4.1 About instrument operation	
4.1.1 chromatographic column installation	
4.2 About maintaining GC	
4.2.1 Maintenance content	61
4.2.2 Maintenance preparations	61
4.3 Split/Splitless inlet maintenance	61
4.3.1 Split/Splitless inlet configuration	
4.3.2 Inlet maintenance	
4.4 Capillary column maintenance	
4.4.1 Replace the chromatographic column	
4.4.2 Chromatographic column conditioning	
4.5 Detector maintenance	
4.5.1 FID maintenance	
4.5.2 ECD maintenance	
4.5.3 FPD maintenance	73
4.6 Purifier maintenance	
4.7 Tools and materials required for maintenance	79
5 Troubleshooting and analysis	80
5.1 Prompt information	
5.1.1 Prompt information	80
5.2 Warnings and faults	80
6	

1 Overview

1.1 GC 2000 Gas Chromatography



Figure1-1 GC 2000 front view



Figure1-2 GC 2000 rear view

1 Overview



Figure1-3 GC 2000 aerial view

1.1.1 Introduction

GC 2000 is a laboratory dedicated/universal instrument for detection and analysis based on gas chromatography. It adopts advanced electronic flow pressure control system, microfluidic plate control technology, high-precision independent temperature control system and high-sensitivity detector, with flexible & user-friendly window, high-speed sampling frequency & signal processing speed, and networked data & control platform, so as to meet user requirements for instrument analysis capability, reliability, stability and advanced nature.

The instrument is composed of a carrier gas system, a liquid system, a chromatographic column separation system, a detector system, a data recording & processing system, and a chromatographic workstation software system. It is compatible with detectors such as FID, ECD and FPD, as well as mass spectrometer detectors, satisfying the needs of different customers and applications.



Figure1-4 Composition of GC 2000 system

1.1.2 Essential principles

Gas chromatography is a conventional analysis method, which employs gas as the mobile phase to bring vaporized sample into the chromatographic column with carrier gas. It applies different distribution coefficients of the sample components in the chromatographic column stationary phase for separation, and uses detector for testing. Also, it plots and marks the chromatogram of the time and concentration of each component flowing out of the chromatographic column through appropriate identification and recording systems. According to the peak time and sequence in the chromatogram, the compound can be qualitatively analyzed; according to the height and area of the peak, it is possible to quantitatively analyze the compound.

Gas chromatography is characterized by high efficiency, high sensitivity, strong selectivity, fast analysis speed, wide application, and easy operation. It is suitable for qualitative and quantitative analysis of volatile organic compounds. Non-volatile liquid and solid substances can be analyzed by pyrolysis and vaporization.

1.1.3 Basic functions

Both the sample inlet and the detector are equipped with electronic flow/pressure control modules, which can support up to 18 channels of electronic pressure/flow control, featuring automatic function of atmospheric pressure & temperature compensation, as well as independent technology of temperature control and data collection;

The detector signal is digitized, with a sampling frequency up to 200 Hz, supportive to ultra-high-speed analysis;

The multiple external interfaces can realize the control and communication of external devices, such as automatic sampler and pre-processing equipment;

Full touch screen with graphical display: 8.0-inch LCD display, touch control, with Android system, and analysis parameters can be set directly through the touch screen;

Humanized control and data analysis platform supports remote control of workstations, intelligent diagnosis, advanced alarm and processing mechanisms, and improves operational safety.

1.1.4 Basic configuration

1.1.4.1 Sample inlet

Two sample inlets can be installed at the same time;

Four sample injection modes: split injection, splitless injection, pulse split injection, and pulse splitless injection;

Four pneumatic control modes: constant pressure, constant flow, gradient pressure, and gradient flow. Both gradient pressure and gradient flow support 3-stage 4-segment programmed pressure boost and programmed upflow.

1.1.4.2 Autosampler

Sample digits: support 16-bit and 110-bit;

Syringe volume range: 1 μ L, 10 μ L, 25 μ L, 50 μ L, 100 μ L, 250 μ L and 500 μ L available (10 μ L as standard); Injection volume: down to 0.1 μ L.

1.1.4.3 Column oven

Number of program segments: support up to 32-stage and 33-segment programmed temperature rise.

1.1.4.4 Detector

Four detectors can be installed at the same time, supporting FID, ECD, FPD and other detectors.

1.1.5 Electronic cable interface



Figure1-5 Electronic cable interface

SIG1: Optional, analog output signal;

SIG2: Optional, analog output signal;

Remote: Provide an interface to remotely start and stop the instrument, and can synchronize multiple instruments;

LAN: Data systems and other device communications;

ALS1: Autosampler communication port 1;

ALS2: Autosampler communication port 2;

Tray: Autosampler tray communication port.

1.2 Man-machine interaction system

1.2.1 Touch screen

GC 2000 adopts an 8.0-inch LCD touch screen.

1 Overview



Figure1-6 Touch screen main window

The main window can display parameters for users to execute commands, such as modifying method parameters, activating methods, and running/stopping methods.

The current state, method parameters, and alarm information of the instrument can be viewed in real time, and the system settings and GC IP address can be modified.

1.2.2 GC 2000 acquisition software

GC 2000 acquisition software controls GC for acquiring data, creating methods, etc. The software is applicable to viewing instrument status and operational status, checking module parameters, creating and editing acquisition methods, running single samples or perform sequential injections, and acquiring spectral signals. It provides a powerful method editor to help you customize your acquisition method for single sample analysis (single injection) and multiple sample analysis (sequential injection).

1.2.3 GC 2000 data analysis software

GC 2000 data analysis software is used to analyze the collected data, which allows users to view data, perform qualitative and quantitative analysis of data files, conduct batch processing, save results, and create and print reports.

1.3 Autosampler

Automatic Liquid Systems (ALS) for GC 2000 instruments include AS 5016 (16-bit sample tray), AS 5110 (110-bit sample tray), AS 3901 (160-bit sample tray) and AS 3016 (16-bit sample tray).

1.3.1 Autosampler for liquid

The main components of autosampler for liquid are:

Injection tower: contains a 10 µL syringe for injection.

Sample tray: holds up to 16/110/160 vials.

Control panel: includes the operating window and display.

Solvent bottle and waste bottle area: are used to hold solvent and waste bottles.

1.4 Sample inlet

GC 2000 liquid system includes a sampling device and a vaporization chamber. Liquid samples are generally injected directly into the injection port using a micro syringe. Gas samples can be injected by needle or valve. GC 2000 offers up to two inlet installations, both electronically controlled.

The entire inlet can be checked for leaks using the pressure decay test in the acquisition software.

The liquid sample is generally injected through the injection port, vaporized in an instant after entering the vaporization chamber, and enters the chromatographic column with the carrier gas. According to different samples to be analyzed, the inlet temperature can be set within the range of 50~450°C. The split/splitless inlet is the most commonly used for a variety of routine sample analysis. The split/splitless inlet can also be used in connection with an autosampler to automatically inject samples through the autosampler for automatic analysis of batch samples.

The split/splitless inlet consists of injection septum, carrier gas inlet, septum purge outlet, vaporization chamber (liner), split outlet, and splitter plate. The injection septum is used for sample needle injection, which plays a sealing role and needs to be replaced after a certain number of uses. After the liquid sample is injected into the inlet through the needle, it is vaporized in the liner. Generally, filling the liner with silanized quartz wool helps the sample vaporize completely, eliminates split discrimination, and can prevent the septum debris generated when the injection needle injects samples from falling into the lower end of the inlet and blocking the inlet. The splitter plate is installed on the lower end of the liner to allow a large amount of gas to enter the split flow path better.

1.4.1 Split injection mode

When the relative concentration of the sample is high, in order to prevent overload, the split injection method is generally used. After injection, a portion of the sample directly enters the column, and the rest is vented from the split outlet.

In split injection, the total flow is controlled by a flow valve, and then the carrier gas is divided into two parts: one is the septum purge gas, and the other is the carrier gas entering the vaporization chamber. After the carrier gas entering the vaporization chamber is mixed with the sample gas, according to the set split ratio, a part is vented through the split port, and the other part enters the chromatographic column.

1.4.2 Splitless injection mode

Generally, splitless injection is used when the sample concentration is low. In splitless injection mode, the split outlet is closed, so all injected sample should enter the column. The splitless glass liner generally has a small section of glass capillary that fits around the injection needle during injection to limit the backflushing of the sample vapor during injection.

During splitless injection, the split valve is closed, and the carrier gas directly brings the sample into the chromatographic column under a certain pressure or flow. Generally, the splitless injection time is 0.5~1.5 min. It is usually recommended to open the split valve after 0.75 min of splitless injection, carry out solvent purging, and

vent the residual sample and solvent from the split outlet, which can reduce the overload to a certain extent and improve separation.

Warning:

• When using hydrogen as a carrier gas, it should be known that hydrogen is a flammable gas. Any leaked hydrogen in a closed space, e.g., a column oven, may cause combustion and explosion. Wherever hydrogen is required, all connections, lines, and valves should be leak-tested before using the instrument.

• Inlet nuts and components may be exposed to high temperatures during instrument operation, and should not be touched without protection.

• Select (4~7) standard atmospheres of nitrogen, helium and air to connect to the instrument. The high-pressure hydrogen outlet is generally selected to be less than 3 standard atmospheres. Workers must pay attention to the safe operation of high-pressure gas.

1.5 Flow and pressure control

Electronic pressure/flow controller (EPC/EFC) is an electric gas pressure/flow control module, which is a gas circuit control system for chromatography. It consists of three components: proportional solenoid valve, pressure sensor/flow sensor, and control board. Simply put, the proportional solenoid valve is equivalent to a variable air resistance. By controlling the size of the input current, the air resistance of the flow path can be adjusted, thereby changing the pressure and flow. The pressure/flow sensor measures the real pressure and flow in the gas circuit and feeds it back to the control board. The control board compares the actual pressure and flow to user setpoints, and adjusts the current input to the proportional valve, enabling electronic control of pressure and flow.

From the application, it is roughly divided into carrier gas controller, detector gas flow controller and auxiliary pressure/flow controller.

1.5.1 Introduction to terminology

Before introducing various gas controllers, users should apprehend the terms involved in this chapter. The descriptions of the following terms are based on GC 2000 system.

(1) Pre-column pressure: The pressure at the inlet of the chromatographic column is also the pressure in the inlet, in kPa or psi.

(2) Column flow: The volume flow in the chromatographic column, which has been converted to room temperature and atmospheric pressure, is equivalent to the volume flow measured at the outlet of the chromatographic column, in mL/min.

(3) Linear velocity: The speed at which the carrier gas moves through the chromatographic column, in cm/s.

(4) Split ratio: The ratio of split outlet flow (split outlet flow = total flow - septum flow - column flow) to column flow, which is a unitless dimension, e.g., 10:1.

(5) Total flow: The total flow of gas entering the inlet, which is controlled by the electronic flow controller

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph located upstream of the inlet, in mL/min.

(6) Septum purging: It is used to purge the products that will be volatilized by the septum at high temperature, thereby preventing volatile components from entering the chromatographic column and causing ghost peaks or pollution.

(7) Makeup gas: The gas added after the chromatographic column when a capillary column is used.

1.5.2 Inlet module electronic pressure/flow control

The configuration of the inlet module electronic pressure/flow control depends on the choice of inlet type and operating conditions. The split/splitless inlet requires an additional split control on the gas circuit due to its split mode. When using split or splitless injection mode at the same time, the configuration relationship between the proportional valve and the sensor is changed.

1.5.3 Detector gas flow control

Most detectors involve gas during use. For example, FID needs to use nitrogen, hydrogen and air, and FPD needs to use hydrogen and air. The size and stability of gas flow often affect the instrument sensitivity and noise level.

The detector gas flow control module of GC 2000 uses electronic flow control for higher control accuracy.

1.6 Chromatographic column and column oven

1.6.1 Column oven overview

The column oven is mainly used to place the chromatographic column, to provide a stable temperature separation environment for the chromatographic column, and to install the inlet and detector. GC 2000 column oven can install 3 chromatographic columns at the same time, with functions such as programmed temperature rise & fall, and rapid temperature rise & fall. High-precision temperature control ensures analysis reproducibility and high efficiency. GC 2000 provides oven temperature control via the touch screen and workstation software.

1.6.2 Chromatographic column overview

A chromatographic column is used to separate components in a mixture, which exploits the difference in the force between the stationary phase and different substances to separate a homogeneously mixed sample into individual components that flow out of the chromatographic column at different times.

When selecting a chromatographic column, the principle of similar compatibility is usually followed, that is, a non-polar stationary phase analyzes non-polar compounds, and a polar stationary phase analyzes polar compounds. Since non-polar stationary phases have a longer lifespan than polar stationary phases, if compounds can be analyzed with stationary phases of different polarities, the least polar stationary phase is generally selected.

1.6.2.1 Chromatographic column type

Two types of chromatographic columns can be installed on GC 2000: packed and capillary.

(1) Packed column

Packed column is a metal tube or glass tube filled with solid packing, which is a kind of chromatographic column commonly used in gas chromatography. Packed columns can accept large sample volumes and have long column life, but have low separation efficiency and are mostly used in specific applications such as permanent gas analysis. The outer diameter of the chromatographic column is usually 2~4 mm, and the length is 0.5~4 m. The packing can be high molecular polymer, molecular sieve or monomer coated with fixed liquid (such as diatomaceous earth). It is usually custom-made or self-filling as needed.

(2) Capillary column

The capillary column is also a ubiquitous column for gas chromatography, which is a quartz capillary with a stationary phase. Despite small column capacity, capillary columns boast of high separation efficiency and short analysis time, and are popular in most applications. The inner diameter of the column is usually 0.1~0.53 mm, with a length of 10 m, 15 m, 25 m, 30 m, 60 m or 100 m, and the film thickness usually between 0.1~5.0 µm.

1.6.2.2 Chromatographic column conditioning

Conditioning is used to bake out contaminants from the column surface (contaminants that enter and condense with the sample or carrier gas, degraded stationary phase debris) to obtain a clean and smooth baseline.

Usually new chromatographic columns need to be conditioned before use. For specific conditioning steps, please refer to the chromatographic column's operation manual.

1.7 Detector

1.7.1 Hydrogen flame ionization detector (FID)

1.7.1.1 Structure and composition

The flame ionization detector (FID) of GC 2000 gas chromatograph consists of:

-----Main body of FID

----EPC module

-----FID signal board



Figure1-7 Schematic diagram of the structure of FID

1.7.1.2 Working principle

Hydrogen flame ionization detector (FID) is a high-sensitivity organic universal detector, which is a typical destructive, mass-type detector. FID is a detector that uses hydrogen flame as ionization source to ionize organic matter and generate microcurrent. FID is characterized by high sensitivity, rapid response and wide linear range, and is suitable for the analysis of most organic compounds ionized in flames, especially for hydrocarbons, whose response is proportional to the number of carbon atoms.

FID is currently the most popular detector, which analyzes the ionized organic substances in the flame, but cannot analyze the non-ionized substances in the flame, such as H₂O, O₂, N₂, CO, CO₂, COS, SO₂ and other organic substances. FID features reliable performance, simple structure and convenient operation. It has virtually zero dead volume and can be directly connected to a fast GC capillary column for the analysis of complex wide-boiling organic compounds in combination with temperature-programmed methods.

FID uses the flame generated by the combustion of hydrogen and air as energy. When the organic compound enters the flame, chemical ionization is generated at high temperature, and the ionization produces ions several orders of magnitude higher than the base current. Under the directional action of the high-voltage electric field, these positively charged ions and negatively charged electrons move to the negative electrode and the positive electrode, respectively, forming an ion current. The weak ion current is amplified by high resistance, and the electrical signal is proportional to the amount of organic compounds entering the flame. According to the size of the signal, the organic matter can be quantitatively analyzed. FID, with a simple structure, a sensitivity up to 10^{-12} ~ 10^{-13} g/s, is insensitive to the fluctuation of the carrier gas, and has a linear range up to 10^7 , and a response to most organic compounds, which explains its widest applications among all gas chromatographic detectors.

An FID is composed of a hydrogen flame ionization chamber and an amplifier. See Figures 1-8 for its structure.



Figure1-8 Schematic diagram of FID structure principle

FID normally uses a stainless steel casing to seal the nozzle, collector, polarizer and ignition coil, etc., leaving an outlet to discharge combustion products. The gas flowing out of the chromatographic column is mixed with hydrogen and makeup gas at the nozzle. The hydrogen flame is ignited with an ignition filament, and air is introduced to assist the combustion. There is an annular metal ring (emitter, or polarizer) near the nozzle, and a metal cylinder (collector) at the upper end, both of which are connected with a DC high voltage of 50~350 V to form an ionizing electric field. After injection, the carrier gas and separated components are ionized into positive, negative ions and electrons in a hydrogen flame. Under the action of the electric field, positive ions move to the collector (negative electrode), and negative ions and electrons move to the polarizer (positive electrode). The ions trapped by the collector flow through the high resistance of the amplifier to generate a signal, which is amplified and sent to a recorder or data processing system. There are holes on the top of the metal cylinder shell of the ionization chamber, from which the exhaust gas and water vapor after combustion are discharged.

1.7.1.3 Selection of test conditions

(1) Selection of gas purity

For constant analysis, the purity of carrier gas, hydrogen and air should be above 99.9%, but for trace analysis, the purity of the three gases should be increased accordingly. The general requirement is more than 99.999%, and the total hydrocarbons in the air are less than 0.1 μ L/L. Impurities in the gas source can cause noise, baseline drift, false peaks, column bleed, and reduced column life. Using a gas source with higher purity achieves desirable stability of FID baseline.

(2) Selection of flow rate

The flow ratio directly affects the sensitivity, and a higher sensitivity will be obtained when various gas flow rates and ratios are properly selected.

Recommended nitrogen/hydrogen/air flow rates for GC 2000 FID operation are: nitrogen at 40 mL/min, hydrogen at 40 mL/min, and air at 400 mL/min.

Recommended hydrogen/air flow rates for FID ignition: hydrogen at 40 mL/min, and air at 200 mL/min. When the automatic ignition is abnormal, users should appropriately increase the hydrogen flow and reduce the air flow.

(3) Temperature selection

Detector temperature changes affect FID sensitivity and noise. Since the combustion of hydrogen in FID produces a large amount of water vapor, if the temperature of the detector is too low, the water vapor cannot be discharged from the detector, and will condense into water, leading to lower sensitivity and more noise.

Furthermore, it is easy to cause corrosion in presence of chlorinated solvents or chlorinated samples. Therefore, the temperature of the FID must be above 120°C, and it is generally operated at 250~300°C. When analyzing different samples, the detector temperature needs to be adjusted according to different methods. Generally, the detector temperature is required to be higher than the maximum temperature of the column oven to prevent the condensation of some high-boiling samples from the chromatographic column into the detector and cause tailing.

1.7.2 Electron capture detector (ECD)

The electron capture detector (ECD) of GC 2000 gas chromatograph consists of an ECD, a Ni⁶³ radioactive source and an ECD circuit signal board. As ECD contains the radioactive source Ni⁶³, improper operation may cause radiation damage to the human body and the environment. Please read the following precautions and warnings carefully before use.

1.7.2.1 Safety information

Note:

Personal safety: ECD contains the radioisotope Ni⁶³ which releases beta particles with little penetrating ability, most of which can be blocked by the surface layer of human skin. However, when the isotope Ni⁶³ can cause damage when absorbed or inhaled by the human body. Please read the instructions carefully before operate ECD.

Personal protection: During the operation of ECD, the operator should wear goggles, lab coat, gloves, and comply with laboratory operating rules, instead of eating, drinking or smoking. After operation, hands should be cleaned thoroughly with detergent.

Ionizing radiation warning signs: Do not remove any ionizing radiation warning signs and ECD-related labels affixed to ECD and gas chromatograph instrument.

ECD scrapping: Disposal of ECD should be performed with permission. According to relevant Chinese regulations, we will recycle and dispose of the sold ECD and their equipment for free. If you have any scrapped ECD equipment, please contact Drawell Technology Co., Ltd.

ECD damage: If the heating of the column oven and the detector is out of control at the same time, resulting in the temperature being above 350 degrees for more than 12 hours, it may cause permanent damage to the Ni⁶³ coating in the detection cell. Please contact your supplier or us to return it to the factory and replace the detection cell.

Disposal of idle ECD: When the ECD is not in use, plugs should be installed on the detector inlet and vent.

ECD exhaust emission: Users should connect polyethylene pipe and PTFE pipe to the vent of the ECD, so that the exhaust gas is discharged to a fume hood or an outdoor unmanned place.

ECD corrosion protection: Any substance that reacts with Ni⁶³ to produce volatile products or causes physical degradation of the coating should not be used. These substances include oxidizing compounds, acids, wet halogens, wet nitric acid, ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, polychlorinated biphenyls, and carbon monoxide.

ECD cleaning: Solvents should not be used to clean the ECD.

Instrument precautions: The product should be placed in a safe and clean environment. Users should follow the instructions for use, and observe the label warnings.

Warning:

The ECD may only be removed from the chromatographic instrument for repairs, while ensuring the operator has been specially licensed, otherwise disassembly is not allowed. Please contact your supplier or us for maintenance needs.

Users are not allowed to open the ECD independently, unless approved by the nuclear regulatory agency. The screws inside the upper cover of the detector are used to fix the two parts of the detector together. Removing or loosening these screws may cause safety problems.

If the detection cell is suspiciously damaged, users should immediately stop operating the gas chromatograph and contact us.

1.7.2.2 Structure and composition

The electron capture detector (ECD) of GC 2000 gas chromatograph consists of:

——ECD

-----Ni⁶³ radioactive source

----EPC module

——ECD signal board



Carrier gas and components

Figure1-9 Schematic diagram of ECD structure

1.7.2.3 Principle features

Electron capture detector (ECD) is the most sensitive gas chromatographic detector, and is also the earliest selective detector. Its response is three orders of magnitude higher than that of hydrocarbons to compounds that can capture electrons, such as electronegative compounds containing S, P, and halogens, and its limit of detection can reach 10^{-12} ~ 10^{-14} g/mL. The minimum detection amount of γ -666 can reach 10^{-13} g, and the ratio of its sensitivity to carbon tetrachloride and n-hexane is 4×10^8 times. ECD is an ionization detector, but its signal is different from that of FID or other ionization detectors, which is an increase in base current, while the ECD signal is a decrease in high background base current. The downside of ECD is its small linear range, usually only 10^2 ~ 10^4 . It can be widely used in environmental protection, food inspection and medical and health departments.

The ECD system consists of an ECD cell and a detection circuit, as shown in Figure 1-10.



Figure1-10 Schematic diagram of ECD structure principle

The carrier gas and purge gas flowing out of the chromatographic column enter the ECD cell, and are ionized under the bombardment of β -rays emitted by the radioactive source, producing a large number of electrons. Under the action of the power supply, cathode and anode electric fields, the electrons flow to the anode, resulting in a base current of 10^{-9} ~ 10^{-8} A. When the electronegative component enters the detector from the back of the column,

it captures the electrons in the cell, which reduces the base current and produces a negative peak. The signal, amplified by the amplifier and recorded in the recorder, is the response signal. Its size is proportional to the amount of components entering the pool.

The ECD cell contains a thin sheet of metallic nickel wrapped around a cylinder through which the carrier gas can pass. The activity of the isotope radioactive substance Ni^{63} is 10 millicuries.

1.7.2.4 Selection of test conditions

The response characteristics of ECD are extremely special, and the response varies greatly depending on the type of compound. There will be great differences between similar substances as long as their molecular structures are slightly different. For the same component, the response also varies depending on the structure of the detector, temperature, applied voltage, etc. Therefore, the selection of ECD conditions has a great impact on the test.

(1) Selection of gas purity

The purity of the carrier gas directly affects the base current of the ECD. Generally, high-purity N2 (99.999%) containing O2 < 10 mg/L is used. If ordinary N2 (containing O2 content of 100 mg/L) is used, the residual oxygen and water must be purified and removed, because O2 is an electronegative substance, which will greatly reduce the base current. Low-purity carrier gas can degrade its sensitivity and linearity. When noble gases such as helium (He) or argon (Ar) are used as carrier gas, 1-5% methane (CH4) must be added.

(2) Selection of flow rate

The gas flow rate of ECD makeup gas is 40~120 mL/min, and the carrier gas flow rate is selected according to the analysis conditions.

(3) Detector temperature

The response of the ECD is obviously affected by the detector temperature. Therefore, the detector temperature fluctuation must be less than \pm (0.1~0.3)°C to ensure a measurement accuracy within 1%. Thus, the detector temperature should be the same when comparing response values or minimum detection amounts for the same compound. The maximum operating temperature of the ECD is determined by the radioactive source used. When the maximum operating temperature is exceeded, the loss of the radioactive source will increase, the detector will be damaged, and the instrument and the working environment will be polluted. This detector uses a Ni63 radioactive source and its highest temperature is 350°C.

(4) Base current size

The ECD should have sufficient base current, generally 2/3 of the saturation current. The saturation current refers to the current when the base current does not rise with the increasing frequency when the pulse frequency increases to a certain extent. The ECD in GC 2000 adopts the constant current pulse modulation mode, where the ECD outputs a frequency signal.

Warning:

Due to the large flow of hydrogen used during the use of FPD, please pay attention to the safety of hydrogen use. Before the instrument uses hydrogen, the hydrogen source should be turned off. When hydrogen is supplied to the instrument, make sure that the interface between the inlet and the detector column are connected to the chromatographic column, or sealed with caps.

When using hydrogen as a carrier gas, it should be known that hydrogen is a flammable gas. Any leaked hydrogen in a closed space, e.g., a column oven, may cause combustion and explosion. Wherever hydrogen is required, all connections, lines, and valves should be leak-tested before using the instrument.

1.7.3.1 Structure and composition

The flame photometric detector (FPD) of GC 2000 gas chromatograph consists of:

——Main body of FPD

-----Photomultiplier tube (PMT)

——EPC module

-----FPD signal board



Figure1-11 Schematic diagram of FPD structure

1.7.3.2 Working principle

The FPD is a selective detector which is often used to detect and has a high response to compounds containing S and P. Its working principle is shown in the figure below. The sample is brought to the nozzle by the

carrier gas/hydrogen, where it is mixed with air and burned. When the flow rate of hydrogen and air meets a certain ratio, a hydrogen-rich flame is formed, and compounds containing sulfur and phosphorus are decomposed and react in this flame, emitting light in a characteristic band. The emitted light is collected by the lens to reach the filter. Different filters can selectively transmit light of different wavelengths. Usually, a filter with a wavelength of 526 nm is selected for sulfur measurement, and a filter with a wavelength of 394 nm is selected for phosphorus measurement. The light of a specific wavelength that passes through the filter is received by a photomultiplier (PMT), and is amplified and converted into an electrical signal according to the light intensity, which is collected and recorded by the workstation. Since there is a certain proportional relationship between the characteristic light intensity and the content of S- and P-containing compounds, the latter can be quantified according to the electrical signal intensity collected by PMT.

(1) Response characteristics

The linear characteristics of S- and P-containing compounds are related to their response mechanisms. The response mechanism of the P-containing compound is relatively simple. It first decomposes in the hydrogen-rich flame, , and forms an excited state HPO* group through a series of reactions. When it returns to the ground state, it emits light in a characteristic band, and the light intensity is proportional to the HPO. The concentration has a linear relationship with the concentration of P atoms.

The response mechanism of S-containing compounds is relatively complex, and there is no conclusion yet, but it is generally believed that the luminescent fragments formed by them in the hydrogen-rich flame are excited S_2^* whose response to sulfur is nonlinear, and whose signal strength is proportional to the square of the concentration of sulfur atoms.

(2) Quenching effect

The quenching effect refers to the phenomenon that the response value of the target component drops significantly or even has no response, when a large amount of hydrocarbons and the target S- and P-containing compound enter the flame simultaneously.

The most direct solution is to adjust the chromatographic analysis conditions so that hydrocarbon compounds and S- and P-containing compound are separated and enter the detector at different times. In addition, maintaining the cleanliness of the detector and the gas used also helps suppress the quenching effect.

1.7.3.3 Selection of test conditions

(1) Selection of gas purity

To ensure the performance of the instrument, the gas used must meet the following purity and pressure requirements before connection:

Carrier gas (nitrogen or helium): purity not less than 99.999%, 400 kPa;

Hydrogen: purity not less than 99.999%, 200 kPa;

Air: total hydrocarbon content not higher than 1 ppm, 400 kPa.

(2) Selection of flow rate

Recommended hydrogen/air flow rate when GC 2000 FPD is working: hydrogen at 90 mL/min, air at 110 mL/min (for measuring S); hydrogen at 70 mL/min, and air at 120 mL/min (for measuring P).

Recommended hydrogen/air flow for FPD ignition: hydrogen at 40 mL/min, and air at 200 mL/min.

(3) Temperature selection

The normal working temperature of FPD is usually 120~250°C.Excessive FPD temperatures can degrade

detector performance and shorten the life of photomultiplier tubes (PMT). When it works at a high temperature of 250~450°C, attention should be paid to the temperature of the photomultiplier tube. A fan on the FPD cools the detector and protects the filter and PMT from high temperature damage.

2 Instrument installation

2.1 Safety precautions

Warning:

- This instrument should only be used by trained personnel.
- When operating the instrument, users should be aware of the follows:

• 1 to 6 standard atmospheres of nitrogen, hydrogen and air should be chosen to connect to the instrument. Staff must pay attention to the safe operation of high-pressure gas, ensuring that hydrogen is less than 3 standard atmospheres.

• Many parts of the instrument, including the oven and internal components, inlets and detectors, operate at high temperatures that can cause severe burns. The power supply should be turned off until these parts cool down before servicing such parts.

• After the oven is opened to cool down, the instrument should not be touched during operation, to prevent burns by hot airflow.

• Hydrogen is a flammable gas. Leaked hydrogen can be a fire and explosion hazard if enclosed in a confined space, such as a valve box or oven. Wherever hydrogen is required, all connections, lines, and valves should be leak-tested before using the instrument.

• When using toxic and harmful solvents and detecting toxic and harmful substances, users should pay attention to leading the split outlet of the inlet and the vent of the detector to the outdoor or fume hood with pipelines, so as to avoid the accumulation of toxic gases indoors.

• In case of maintenance, please consult professional maintenance personnel before maintenance. Substitution of other company's spare parts or any unauthorized modification of the instrument may cause a safety incident.

Note:

• Upon receipt of the instrument, the instrument should be inspected for any shipment damage. If there is damage, please contact the supplier within 8 days of reception.

• Please read Chapter 1 before installing the instrument, and Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 before opening the instrument.

• Keep gas and power disconnected before opening the inside of the instrument.

• When using a gas generator, it must be dehumidified and have organic matter removed before it is connected to the instrument; otherwise it may easily cause pipeline pollution.

• Any material that filters and purifies gas has a lifespan and should be replaced in a timely manner, so as to prevent gas pollution.

• Do not move the instrument while it is working.

• The warranty period for the product is one year after delivery, excluding consumables such as septa, liners and columns.

• If there is any problem during the operation of the instrument, please contact your supplier or Drawell Technology Co., Ltd.

2.2 Installation requirements

 Table 2-1
 Installation requirements

Power requirements	220 VAC, 50 Hz
Space requirements	The test bench should provide enough space for equipment such as GC, PC, and printer, and for various gases (in cylinder gas or gas generator).
Indoor temperature requirements	(15~35)°C, while the best ambient temperature is recommended as 15~28°C.
Relative humidity requirements	(5~95)%RH, preferably not more than 75%.
Installation requirements	The instrument should not be mounted at the places near air conditioners and heaters, or with direct fan blowing or direct sunlight. Exhaust equipment should be installed above the experimental bench.
Gas connection	All gas fittings connected to the instrument use 1/8" compression fittings. The cylinder pressure reducing valve must meet the requirements of gas chromatography.
Carrier gas	Nitrogen: Mass N 5.0 (i.e. 99.999%), 5 bar. Common carrier gas purification devices include dehydration tubes, dehydrocarbon tubes and deoxygenation tubes, all of which are called traps. Universal integrated traps can also be used.
Additional gas	FID/FPD:Hydrogen: Mass N 5.0, 2 bar, with a consumption of about (20~30) mL/min, using hydrogen bottle or hydrogen generator for gas supply.Air: With a consumption of about (200~300) mL/min, 2 bar, using air cylinder or air generator for air
	supply, preferably employing zero-grade air to obtain lower background noise. ECD only needs nitrogen as make-up gas, rather than hydrogen or air.

Note: a nickel-plated brass pressure reducing valve should be used for nitrogen; while helium/hydrogen needs a special pressure reducing valve. The instrument should never be run without carrier gas.

2.3 Installation process

2.3.1 Instrument acceptance

The installation engineer unpacks the instrument, and checks whether the instrument is damaged and whether the gas chromatograph host, accessories, tools, etc., are complete against the packing list. If any problem is found, it should be immediately reported to the product manager. After taking the instrument out, the personnel should put the packaged materials back in the shipment box and store the empty box.

2.3.2 Instrument placement

The gas chromatograph, computer, and printer should be placed on the bench, and the nitrogen/hydrogen/air cylinder or nitrogen/hydrogen/air generator placed next to or behind the bench.

2.3.3 Gas chromatograph installment

For details, see the installation manual of gas chromatograph.

2.3.4 Installment of PC system and workstation

A PC system consists of a host computer, a monitor, a mouse, a keyboard and a printer.

Place the PC on the test bench, and connect the monitor, mouse, keyboard and printer to the interfaces of the host according to different plug specifications. One end of the PC host power cord is connected to the power jack at the back of the host; the other is connected to a 220 V power supply; and the power cord behind the printer is connected to a 220 V power supply.

Start the PC, insert the software key, and install GC 2000 workstation (including GC 2000 acquisition software and data analysis software).

2.3.5 Connect communication equipment

Connect the LAN port on the back of GC to the LAN port on the back of the PC with a network cable.

Turn on GC 2000, check the IP address, and change the IP address of the PC to the IP address of the same segment of the gas chromatograph (generally, this step is only required when the instrument is installed for the first time), enter GC instrument control software, and the instrument status displays ready.

2.3.6 Instrument debugging and performance testing

Before leaving the factory, the instrument will be tested for the performance of the whole machine to ensure that the instrument is delivered in the best state to the customer. After the engineer has completed the above steps, enable ventilation.

2.3.7 On-site training for users

After completing the above work, the engineer should arrange on-site training for users, train the operation of instrument software, basic maintenance, etc., and conduct on-site Q&A.

3 Man-machine interaction

3.1 Touch screen operation

Status idle	Status:kle	Statuskile	Status:idle
Home	Settings	Log book	System set
Front inlet Column 1 Front detector	Flow path 1 Flow path 2	Current alarm History alarm	Paramatar System message
	inlet 🧰		A cost and other
D.03kpa D.08ml/min FID Rear inlet Column 2 MS	Temperature (10) 2,0 Column flow (mi/min) 0.00		Doing this will reboot the touchscreen, you may have to wait for a few minutes!
	Precolumn pressuré (xPa) 000 Total New (ml/mlm) D 00		REBOOT
0.00kps 0.00m1/mm	Oven 🧑		
Activate Prepare Start	Category Actual Set value. Temperature (C) 25.0		
Runned:0.00min Total time:0.00m	in Detector		
Rettings Log book System s	et Harris with the book System set	Gi Ci 🦉 🛞	Home Settings Log book speed by

Figure 3-1 Touch screen interface (main interface, method setup, logging and system setup)

The main interface of the touch screen mainly displays the current flow path configuration and parameters of the instrument.

Click the main interface to view the running status of the instrument, the elapsed time and the total method time in real time, and view the inlet (temperature and precolumn pressure), column oven (temperature and column flow), and detector (temperature and type), and other real-time status parameters, and execute related commands, such as method activation, method preparation, method start/stop.

The method parameters can be set on the touch screen method setting. Click the method setting to set and save the currently configured parameters, such as inlet temperature and pre-column pressure, column oven temperature, detector temperature and flow rate.

Click the log record to view the alarm information, including current alarm information and historical alarm information;

Click the system settings to perform operations such as flow configuration, system information, power management, and setting the GC IP address.

3.2 Acquisition software operation

Double-click the GC 2000 acquisition software to enter the user login interface. It is required to enter the password admin (administrator as the default user name) to enter the main interface of the software. After entering the main interface, the power-on self-test will be performed. If the self-test is not passed, it means that the communication has failed. It is necessary to check whether the network port is connected normally, and whether the computer IP address and the GC IP address are in the same network segment; if there is no prompt, the instrument status displays ready, it means that the self-test is passed, and the access will be given to the main interface of the GC 2000 acquisition software.

3 Man-machine interaction

A administrator	
8	
Login	

Figure 3-2 User login interface

3.2.1 Status

(1) Status display on the main interface

0 0 50 0.571 76.89 25.009 399.991 49.97 Teal Boards free (risk) Deer temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard Line (P monthed temperature (C) Column Board & Goard &	Sequence		,凤青					
e nas (MR) ♥ € D C	0 Cogotern startis	O Method ranning time (min)	50 Diver temperature (%)	0.571 Colume flow at front inlet (inclunity	76.89 Front inlet temperature (%)	25.009 Total flow at front lafet (reLiver)	399.991 Front dimetar all flow (ret/min)	49.97 Front detector temperature
	ar (mo) 🖂 🗢 📾	3						Front detector (FID) 10

Figure 3-3 Main interface status display window

Running status: fault/alarm, ready, not ready, ready for sample, running, stopped, post-run; Instrument status: offline, fault/alarm, ready;

Sample name: displays the sample name of a single sample analysis or sequence injection;

Data file: display the result path of single sample analysis or sequence injection;

Single run: click the single run button for single sample analysis;

Running time: the top is the method running time progress, and the bottom is the total method running time;

Stop method: click the Stop Method button to stop the current single run and sequence run;

Work log: click the Work Log button to view the activity log which includes the time (date and time), user,

type and content (details) of the activity. The query can be filtered by time range and log type (syslog, run log, and instrument action).

Log	Ineuk.					×
luery	time 2023-04-19 00:	~ 00:00	- 2023-04-19	23:59:59 - Log type	* Query Esport	
	Time	User	Type	Cantent		
-1	1/19/2023 (0:04)	At Arrest	System 24	a Software Leathing		
2	4/19/2023 10:06	M User	System 1e	ç System start-ep		
3	4/19/2023 9.54 #	Uper	System la	g System start-up		
4	4/19/2023 9:22 .0	Uper	System 1a	g System start-up		
5	4/19/2023 P-12 M	Usir .	System Ter	c System start-up		
6	4/19/2023 9:09 M	t Var	System 14	ç System start-ap		
7	4/19/2023 9:06 M	User .	System 1e	g System start-op		
ō	4/19/2023 9:00 M	Uper	System le	g System start-up		
9	4/19/2023 8-54 M	User	System Le	g System start-up		
	Б;	~~~~~	2 1	I a c curamitar	in darr	
	Г1	gure	3-4	Log query w	maow	

Ready state: Click the Ready state button¹⁰⁰ to enter the ready state view window; click Auto Refresh to view modules that are not ready; and click Manual Refresh to view that a specific parameter of the module is not ready.

Oven(Not ready)	
Oven temperature(Not	t ready)
Front detector(Not ready)
Front detector hydrog	en flow(Not ready)

Figure 3-5 Ready status view window

Note: The ignition status of the detector includes five types: to be ignited, igniting, ignited, not ignited and flameout.

(2) Shortcut buttons

	Sequence			Method			Instrument	
1200	1220	220	E.	E,	VE.	큥	O1	
		I	Figure 3-6	Shortcut v	vindow			

Sequence: call sequence, edit sequence, run sequence; click the edit sequence button to quickly enter the sequence table editing interface; the function of the run sequence button is the same as that of the run button in the sequence table.

Method: call method, edit method, run method; click the edit method button to quickly enter the current method editing interface;

Instrument: inlet, column oven, detector; click the inlet, column oven, detector button to quickly enter the method editing window of each module.

Note: Running method is the process that the instrument runs and analyzes the sample according to the currently activated method.

(3) Monitoring column

Users may view the real-time parameters of each module in the monitoring window, including instrument status, method running time, parameter status of modules such as front/rear inlet, column oven, front/rear detector, and auxiliary EPC. They can also customize and select monitoring parameters, and the monitoring window displays 8 by default.

(4) Online signal



Figure 3-8 Online signal window

Click the drop-down box of online signal display to select double-layer signal display/display only signal 1/display only signal 2;

Click to enter the signal setting window, where users can set the signal X- and Y-axis ranges (adaptive growth/limiting range) of signal source 1/2, and click Save;

ignal settings				
Front detector (FID)	Signal X-axis range	(min)		
	2			
	Signal Y-axis range	(pA)		
	O Adaptive growt	h		
	Limited scope	0	20	
			Save	Cancel

Figure 3-9 Signal setup window

Click for the a snapshot of the spectrum;

Click C to restore the online signal to the initial state.

Note: When a single injection or sequence injection is running, users may click the spectrum snapshot function in the online signal window to analyze the data collected so far. The currently collected data can be opened and processed with the analysis software, and the instrument continues to collect data.

The spectral signal can be selected by the left and right mouse buttons to zoom in by dragging (when a cross appears) or dragging the coordinate axis (when an arrow appears).

3.2.2 Method

An analytical method is a collection of parameter values that the instrument needs to set when running a single sample. It includes parameters such as inlet temperature, flow rate, oven temperature, detector temperature and flow rate. Activating the corresponding method can quickly restore the instrument to the optimal operating state without resetting all parameter values.

Method includes New Method, Open Method, Save Method, Save Method As, Print Method, and Method Activation.

Note: After entering the method interface, users may create a new method, and edit the method properties, enter the method configuration editing interface. Click Configure to perform unit selection, chromatographic column configuration (for flow path configuration), check ready status, module gas type selection and detector configuration, and then edit the method parameters of each module.

3.2.2.1 Method edit



Click the [New method] button to create a new injection method, and the system will name it by default. Click save method to show a pop-up box of storage address. Users may modify the method file name, but the method file storage path is constant;

12

Click the [Open method] button, find the path of the previously saved method, select the method file, and click open to call the saved method and overwrite the currently edited method;

Click the [Save method] button to save the currently edited or modified method;

Click the [Save method as] button to save the current method to the specified path and modify the method name;

Click the [Activate method] button to ensure the instrument reaches the analytical running state according to the currently set method. After the method is activated, the parameters in the current method will reach the set value: the state of each configuration of the instrument (such as detector, injection port), including temperature and the flow rate of each gas path, will reach the set value in the method.

Note:

Before single injection or sequential injection, users must ensure that the ready status of each module of the instrument is checked, otherwise the instrument will run the method under the state that the set value is not reached, which will affect the sample analysis effect.

3.2.2.2 Method attribute

Status (S)	Matthod (M)	Engle sample II	Testuetta (T)	Marrie (MI	Control (C) II	02.010				13
	and pro-			00000	Second States of					
16 .Mth				- 00						
-	PD:	四	(B)	Q						
New method	Open: method	Save	Save method as	Activity						
間 Method	altribute	The Method con	figuration							
Location: D	staultProject									
Creation of	0.00.10.10.10	0-00	Cisator: adm	ninistrator:						
dodification		1920								
date: 0	01-01-01_00-0	0-00	Modifier: adm	ninistrator						
Description										
-										

Figure 3-10 Method attribute interface

Location: the default storage path of the current method;

Creation date: the date and time when the current method was created;

Modification date: the date and time after the current method is modified and saved;

Description: for commenting on the current method.

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph **3.2.2.3** Method configuration

Status (S) Method (M)	0 Single sample (0 Sequence (5) View (V) Control (C) Help (H)
16 .Mth	
↓ ↓ New Open method method	Image: Comparison of the system Comparison Save method as method Activate method
🖹 Method attribute	Method configuration
Front inlet Column #	Front detector
Autosampler	AC 5016
AS 5016 autosampler	A5 30 16
an Andret	The face of the second s
E INNT	mection
Front inlet (SSL)	single purging 6 Dates Springe 10 w st. Injector 1 st.
Front inlet (SSL)	Insection Gangle purgling 6 Ealers Springe 10 v st. Injection Smen 6 Ealers sapecity 10 v st. volume 1 st.
Front inlet (SSL) P Column Column	ingecom Seede persona 6 Elleri Sologe 30 el lejecton form Cleaning
Front inlet (SSL) Column Column B Oven	Impectant Sample purpling 6 Ealers Splinge 1 4 Seming Sales Perioritage
E minet Front inlet (SSL) E Column Column E Oven Oven	Impetition Sample purpling free 6 Ease Sploge to percent 1 4 Closing Needle math with Sheet 1 Below Aber Percentage to percentage
e met Front inlet (SSL) E Column Column E Oven E Detector management Eroot detector (ED)	Impectation Suppose Suppose Impectation Gample purpose Ethnic Suppose Impectation Impectation Balance Impectation Impectation Impectation Impecta
Inst Front Inlet (SSL) Column Column Oven Oven Detector management Front detector (FID) E Seent	Impectation Social setup Social setup Social setup Social setup Social setup Easter Social setup Social setup Social setup Needle setup Z Tisse Z Tisse Social setup
⇒ mart Front liefe (SSL) ⇒ Column Column ⇒ Diven Oven ⇒ Detector management Front detector (FID) ⇒ Event Event management	Impetation Sample providing form Eases Sophape raperity 50 is Contring Below Aber Personage Needle wath with Solvert 3 Tians 3 Tians Verter wath with Solvert 2 3 Tians 50 Needle wath with Solvert 2 3 Tians 50 Needle wath with Solvert 2 3 Tians 50 Needle wath with solvert 2 3 Tians 50
s innet Front felet (SSL) Column Column Oven Detector management Front detector (FID) is Event Event management Signal management	Impectation Sample purpling 6 Eaker Splinge 1 4 Cleaning Balan Balan Permittage Noncle wath follows Balan 3 Time 50 Noncle wath follows 3 Time 50 % Needle wath others 2 Time 3 Time 50 % Needle wath others 2 Time 50 % Needle wath others 3 Time 50 % Needle wath others 4 Time 50 %
D Innet Front Inlet (SSL) D Column Column D Oven D Detector management Front detector (FID) E Event Event management D Signal management Signal source	Important Screep provide men Ease: Splicity Support Important Support Important Support Meedia sealt with Solvers 2 Sealtwards with Solvers 2 Needia sealt with Solvers 2 Team Image 3 Team Percentage 3 Team Percentage 3 Team Needia sealt with Solvers 2 Needia sealt with Solvers 2 Team Image 3 Team Solvers 30 Solvers Other settings

Figure 3-11 Method configuration interface

(1) Autosampler (optional)

If autosampler is selected as the injection source in single injection and sequential injection, the autosampler method needs to be edited. There are autosamplers available, such as AS 5016, AS 5110, AS 3091 and AS 3016.

AS 5016									
Injection									
Sample pumping times	6	Ties	Syringe capacity	(10 v	æ	Injection volume	1	er.	
Cleaning	-			144010			- 10 -1-1-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10		
Needle wash	Before	4.33F		Atter			Percentage		
with Solvent 1	3	Tinez		3	Tines		50	107	
Needle wash with Solvent 2	3	Tines		3	Tines		50) x	
Needle wash with sample	3	Tises					50	8	
Other settings	R)								
			Dwell time before			Dwell time after			
Viscosity delay	0	540	injection	1	340	injection	1	146	Solvent saving mode (reduced fineness of washing needle)
Injection speed	low speed	N.							

Figure 3-12 Method Edit Window of AS 5016 Autosampler

According to the configured autosampler, perform injection, cleaning (the number of needle washes and usage) and other settings, and select the connection port (com port) to automatically identify the autosampler model.

• Injection

Number of pump samples: set the number of times to pump samples to the injection needle before injection between $0\sim15$.Syringe pumping is mainly to ensure eliminate air bubbles in the sample drawn from the sampling needle during each injection, so as to prevent it affecting the actual measurement results. Generally, the number of pumping samples is available between $4\sim5$.

Syringe volume: click the drop-down box; the syringe volume can be 1, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 250 and 500 μ L; Injection volume: for entering injection volume;

• Cleaning

Solvent 1 needle wash: Set the number and usage of solvent 1 needle wash before or after injection. The number of needle washes can be selected between $0\sim20$. Users may set the amount of needle washing independently (represented by %), but the amount should not be more than 70%, within the range of the syringe used (100%).

Solvent 2 needle wash: Set the number and usage of solvent 2 needle wash before or after injection. The number of needle washes and the amount used are the same as above.

Solvent 3 wash: Set the number of solvent 3 needle washes and the amount used before or after injection. The number of needle washes and the amount used are the same as above.

Sample needle wash: Set the number of sample needle washes and the amount used before or after injection. The number of needle washes and the amount used are the same as above.

• Other settings

Viscosity delay seconds: Some sample solutions have high concentration (or viscosity). Therefore, it is necessary to draw slowly or wait for a period of time to ensure that the sample is completely drawn. The waiting time is the viscosity delay time, which is generally set to be 2 s.

Dwell seconds before/after injection: Dwelling before injection is a hot needle process to ensure that samples to be analyzed with different boiling points can be fully or completely vaporized during injection. Dwelling after injection is to ensure that the sample that may remain at the tip of the injection needle is completely vaporized after injection, and is generally set to be 3 s.

Syringe sampling speed: Set the speed value when the syringe takes samples.

Syringe injection speed: Set the speed value of the syringe injection.

(2) Sample inlet

SSL							
Injection			Actual			Set	
	D Heater:		49.66	°C		50	°C
	Pressure:		50.006	kPa		50	kPa
	Total flow:		24.986	mL/min		1.131	mL/min
Injection m	ode						
	splitless 🔗	Purge flow:	25	mL/min	Purge time:	0.75	min
Gas saver:							
	Turn on	Saved	15	mL/min	Time	0	min

Figure 3-13 Inlet method edit window

The types of front and rear inlets include split/splitless injection inlets and packed column inlets (optional). Users may set specific parameters of each inlet (inlet temperature, pressure, etc.), select the injection mode, and decide whether to enable the carrier gas saver, etc.

Injection mode



Figure 3-14 Four injection modes

There are four injection modes: split, splitless, pulse split and pulse splitless injection. Split injection mode is used for the analysis of components with higher content, where the split ratio needs to be set, and the split flow rate is equal to the column flow multiplied by the split ratio; splitless injection is used for the analysis of trace components, where the purge flow and purge time need to be set; pulse split injection sets the pulse pressure and pulse time on the basis of splitting, allows fast injection, primarily to speed up the sample entering the chromatographic column and prevent the sample from decomposing at the inlet; pulse splitless injection allows larger sample injection than pulse split injection.

Note: Purge flow is enabled by default in splitless injection mode. In the splitless injection mode, all the injected samples will enter the chromatographic column, which can easily lead to overloading of the chromatographic column and affect the analysis effect. The carrier gas purging function is to turn on the split function after a period of time (usually 1~2 min) after the sample is injected to prevent all the sample from entering the chromatographic column.

Pulse injection is an additional feature provided when fast injection is required. When this function is necessary, choose pulse split or pulse splitless injection mode; the set pressure value is greater than the pre-column pressure value used for normal analysis, and the duration is usually 0.2~0.5 min. Increase the inlet pressure at the beginning (at the "Pulse Pressure" setting) and return to normal pressure after the specified time (at the "Pulse Time" setting).Pulse injection maintains a high pressure at the inlet, and the sample enters the chromatographic column at a fast speed to reduce the chance of sample decomposition at the inlet. From the end of the injection to the end of the analysis, the inlet pressure drops to the pressure corresponding to the column flow. Pulse injection is recommended when the sample is thermally unstable.

Carrier gas saver is an additional feature that saves unnecessary carrier gas waste. When this function is necessary, check it to enable, and the set flow value is smaller than the total flow value used for normal analysis. This function is available when the sample is injected for a period of time (usually $4\sim5$ min), that is, the total flow is reduced to the carrier gas saving set value after $4\sim5$ min.

(3) Chromatographic column



Figure 3-15 Chromatographic column method edit window

3 Man-machine interaction

It can set specific parameters such as flow and pressure, and select the flow mode. There are 4 flow modes: constant pressure, gradient pressure, constant flow, and gradient flow. Both gradient pressure and gradient flow support 3 stages and 4 segments.

•	Rate (kPa/min)	Set value (kPa)	Retention time (min)	Total time (min)
(initial value)		50	1	1
1	20	60	2	3.5
2	30	90	0.5	5
3	40	100	3.75	9



Figure 3-16 Gradient pressure edit interface

	Rate (mL/min) 2)	Setting value (mL/min)	Retention time (min)	Total time (min
initial value)		2	1.5	1.5
	0.2	2.4	0.5	4
	0.5	2.9	2	7
	0.3	3.2	1	9

Figure 3-17 Gradient flow edit interface

Note:

Regardless of the control mode (constant voltage, constant current, programed boost, programed boost), the pulse injection function has the highest priority.



Figure 3-18 Oven method edit window

Users may set specific parameters, such as column oven equilibration time, maximum oven temperature, oven temperature (initial temperature, ramp rate, target temperature, hold time, etc.), post-run temperature and time. GC 2000 features constant temperature and programmed heating/cooling operations, which are designed for samples with a narrow boiling point range and a wide boiling point range, respectively.

The order can be added by adding data on the window, while the selected order can be deleted by deleting data. The set temperature program is displayed above the setting area in the form of a curve.

Note: Equilibration time refers to the time that the column oven stabilizes at the specified temperature before running, that is, after the system reaches the set temperature from the non-set temperature of the column oven, the time allows the system to maintain the temperature for a period of time and then run the method.

The maximum oven temperature refers to the maximum set temperature in the editing oven constant temperature or programed heating and cooling. Generally, the set value cannot exceed the maximum working temperature of the chromatographic column.

Post-run means that after the run is completed, the temperature is rapidly raised to the high temperature section, and the temperature of the column oven (post-run temperature) is maintained for a period of time (post-run time), which is used to bake out high-boiling impurities in the chromatographic column for an extended period of time. The signal is recorded and does not count towards the total time to run the method.

(5) Detector management

Setting



Figure 3-19 FID method edit window

The front and rear detectors include FID, ECD and FPD. Parameters specific to each detector (detector temperature, nitrogen-hydrogen air flow, ignition, etc.) can be set.

Users may check Auto Ignition, click Method Activation, and the detector will automatically ignite when the temperature and flow rate of the detector reach the ready state; users can also uncheck Auto Ignition, click the Method Activation, and click the Ignition button after the instrument is ready. Both automatic ignition and manual ignition can achieve FID/FPD ignition.

(6)	Events									
Event										
	Term (min)		Event type		Location		Switching value		Pressure ratio	
+		Valve		 Valve 1 		Turn off		70		l
		Relay		* Relay 1		* Turn on		+		
+ Add yours	Delete seere									

Figure 3-20 Event management method edit window

Event management is mainly to set the timing of valve injection, and control the sampling and injection time. Auxiliary EPC pressure setting is available for the non-methane total hydrocarbon version. Click Add Event to add an event, and click Delete Event to delete the selected event.

(7) Signal management

Signal

Display	Signal source	Data rates
	Front detector (FID)	20
	None	20

Figure 3-21 Signal management method edit window

Signal management can set specific parameters such as signal source and data acquisition frequency. The signal source can be selected from none or a front/rear detector. The signal acquisition frequency means the number of signal points taken per second, and the data acquisition frequency can be 10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 Hz.

Note:

An excessively high signal rate will intensify signal noise; conversely, too low a signal rate can distort chromatographic peak shape.

(8) Configuration

The instrument analysis method is based on the actual instrument configuration, so it is necessary to determine the instrument configuration before editing the instrument acquisition method. The configuration mainly includes five parts: others, chromatographic column, ready state, module and detector configuration.

Others

Three pressure units available: kPa, psi, bar.



Figure 3-22 Other configuration windows

• Chromatographic column

By clicking Add and Delete, users may configure the flow path, and click Edit to edit the column information or choose the column, and select the column inlet, outlet and heating device. The inlet has 5 options: front inlet, rear inlet, auxiliary EPC1, auxiliary EPC2, and unspecified. The outlet has 6 options: front detector, rear detector, auxiliary EPC1, auxiliary EPC2, and MS. The heating device has 3 options: oven, valve box, and others.

Note: The selection of inlet and outlet depends on the module configuration. For example, if the module configuration selects the front inlet and the front detector, while other modules do not use them, the inlet will only have 2 options (i.e. the front inlet and the unspecified), and the outlet will only have 3 options (i.e. detector, MS and others).
User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph

	Column description	Inlet	Outlet	Heating eq	sigment
5281	08-5. IDe.s 8.25mm . 8.25µm	Pront inlat	*/ front detector	2 Ourn	
Edit	06-17. Hits a fighters fighter	Unpelfed	* Other	· Oniki :	+

+ 404 - Delete

Figure 3-23 Chromatographic column configuration window

In the Edit Column Information window, users may edit the column parameters (column length, inner diameter, film thickness) and name, etc., and select the column type (capillary and packed column). Click "Save to Local" to save the column to the local library, or click "Select from Catalog" to enter the column library management interface to select the corresponding column, and click "OK" to complete the editing of the column information.

Length:		Inner diameter:		Film thickness:	
30	m	0.25	mm	0.25	μm
Capillary Packed colu	umn			Minimum tempe 0 Maximum tempe	rature _ ℃ erature
				320) °C
information		Description			
Default		Default column			

Figure 3-24 Edit Column Information Window

Ready state

Users may check each module to judge the ready state of the instrument, including the front inlet, rear inlet, column oven, valve box, front detector, rear detector, auxiliary EPC1 and auxiliary EPC2 modules. For example, if the oven is checked, the instrument will judge whether the temperature of the oven reaches the set value of the currently activated method, and the status of other modules that are not checked will not be judged. When the oven temperature reaches the set value, the running status shows ready; otherwise, the running status shows not ready.

Note: Modules in the ready state are based on the module configuration usage selection.

Ready state

Check whether modules are ready

🖌 Oven

Figure 3-25 Ready state configuration window

• Module

It is possible to configure and choose the gas types of the inlet, detector and auxiliary EPC modules. There are 3 options for inlet gas types: nitrogen, hydrogen and helium.

Module Inlet				
	Front inlet (SSL)	Rear inlet		
Detector				
	Front detector	Rear detector		5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	Makeup gasi Nitrogen 😪	Makeup gas: Gas type		Front inlet (SSL)
			SSL inlet:	Nitrogen
EPC				Hydrogen
	Aux EPC1	Aux EPC2		Helium

Figure 3-26 Module configuration window

• Detector

The front/rear detectors can be configured, including parameters such as ignition judgment, ignition duration, and ignition flow.

FID configuration	on	
	Set	
Ignition judgment:	1	pA
Ignition duration:	3	
Ignition hydrogen flow:	40	mL/mir
Ignition air flow:	200	mL/mir
Ignition makeup flow:	0	mL/min

Figure 3-27 FID configuration window

FID: A hydrogen flame ionization detector, which can set parameters such as ignition judgment, ignition time, ignition hydrogen flow, ignition air flow and ignition makeup flow.

FPD: A sulfur and phosphorus detector, which can set parameters such as ignition judgment, ignition time, ignition hydrogen and air flow, PMT voltage and PMT ignition voltage.

3 Man-machine interaction

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph

3.2.3 Single sample

		-0
Status (S)	Method (M) Single sample (I) Sequence (S) View (V) Control (C) Help (H)	
ingle-sa	mple	
-		
lunning info	amation	
ample Name	To former and the second	
Acquisition	No.Am	
Data name	16	
Result file	DV16	
re-processi	ng method	
Injection	Zutogaveler	
Injection	1	
Vial No.	C	
Sample info	mation	
Sample		
Dibilian	1	
Online		
		(RD) 1.051 p.k.
Front detector	no v 🗢 🗰 🖸	
20 T		
-		
16 -		
5 I		
12 -		
. 1		
Ĩ		
4 ±		
1		
0 I		· · · · · · · · · · · ·
	18.4 18.8 19.2 19.6	20
	Time (Fill)	

Figure 3-28 Single sample analysis edit window

3.2.3.1 Running information

Sample name: Set the name of the current sample, which will be displayed in the report generated by the analysis, and can be customized according to the actual sample, such as hexadecane, methyl parathion;

Collection method: The method used to collect the data;

Result path: The location where the data file is stored after the operation is completed, and the storage path can be customized and selected;

Data name: The name used when the data file is saved.

3.2.3.2 Preprocessing method

Pre-processi	ng method
Injection	None
Injection	÷
Vial No	Autosampler
	Other

Figure 3-29 Preprocessing method selection interface

Sampling source: there are 3 options: autosampler, others (pre-processing equipment) and none (manual injection);

Injection volume: the amount to be injected (microliters), where users should also set the injection volume of the injection needle according to the actual needs, which is generally 1 μ L if injecting through an autosampler;

Sampling vial number: Set the position of the currently injected sample on the sample tray of the autosampler.

3.2.3.3 Sample information

Sample content: The concentration of the sample used for injection before dilution;

Dilution factor: The dilution factor of the sample, which is mainly used for sample processing of analysis software.

3.2.3.4 Online signal

Consistent with the status/online signal.

3.2.4 Sequence

3.2.4.1 Sequence editing

FID .S			
4	B	8	B
New	Open	Save	Save
sequence	sequence	sequence	sequence as

Sequence refers to the list of samples to be analyzed and the method used for each analysis.

Click the [New Sequence] button to create a new injection sequence with default name. Click Save Sequence to show the storage address pop-up box. Users may modify the sequence file name, but the file storage path is constant. All information in the sequence table needs to be re-entered;

Click the [Open Sequence] button, choose the path where the target sequence file is saved, and select the corresponding sequence file. Click the Open button to call the saved sequence file and overwrite the currently edited sequence;

Click the [Save Sequence] button to save the currently edited or modified sequence file;

Click the [Save Sequence as] button, select the target path and modify the file name. Click OK, then the sequence file will be saved in the specified path.

3.2.4.2 Sequence attribute





Item: the default storage path of the current sequence;

Creation date: the date and time when the current sequence was created;

Modification date: the date and time after the modification and saving of the current sequence;

Description: for commenting on the current sequence.

3.2.4.3 Sequence list

the bit Mattrod (M)	a suidia sauthis 10	sectness (2) 2/2	en (v) contra (c)	meth tub						
2.5										
	00	TED .								
ed Bu/ Reve Open	Sever	Save								
uence sequence	e sequence	sequence as:								
Securior attribute	Security	table								
		al Pillers	O Data	0						
Sangle type	Injuition searce	Vial No.	Sample rokens (al.)	Injustines	Load Barry	Sample rame	Dela nerra	Notes	Ervet	Carryly siz
2000 C										
andbra	Audonavgist	34 	1	7	Figure OFFETTING	76	16	8	1	
enter -	And an an angles	<u></u>	T	2	Tank (NC)M	16	16	8		
andler •	And Analog Street		T	2	Band (NCDAM)	16	16	ε.		
netiter -	And Analog (Art	- F.	T	2	Band (NCDAW)	16	16	τ.		

Figure 3-31 Sequence list editing interface

(1) Sequence list editing

Click the [Add Row] button to add a new row sequence based on the existing sequence.

Click the [Delete Row] button to delete the unneeded sequence of the selected row; if multiple rows are selected, the selected row will be deleted by default.

Click the [Fill Down] button, or right-click fill this column down, then all cells below the selected cell will have the same value as the selected cell;

Click the [Incremental filling] button, or right-click fill this column incrementally, then the values of all cells below the selected cell will be incremented;

Click the [Shift left for one column] button, then the selected column will move forward;

Click the [Shift right for one column]

Right-click - Edit Column: for editing the header display required by the sequence table, and it will be displayed when checked.

Right-click - Copy: copy the selected line of sequence information;

Right-click - Paste: paste the copied line of sequence information to the selected line; select multiple lines, and paste the last selected line by default;

Right-click - Insert Row: insert a blank row before the selected row of sequence information;

Right-click - Delete: delete one or more lines of sequence information selected.

(2) Parameter meaning

The meanings of each parameter in the sequence table editing window list are as follows:

Sample type: Set the current sample type, which can be selected from unknown, sample, blank, spiked and standard sample options;

Sampling source: 3 options available, namely autosampler, others (pre-processing equipment) and none;

Sampling position: Set the position of the currently used sample on the sample tray of the autosampler;

Sample volume: The amount to be injected (microliters), where users should also set the injection volume of the injection needle according to the actual needs, which is generally 1 μ L;

Injection times: Set the injection times of a line in the sequence between 0~999;

Load project: The method used to collect data;

Sample name: Set the name of the current sample, which will be displayed in the report generated by the analysis, and can be customized according to the actual sample, such as hexadecane, methyl parathion;

Data name: The name used when saving the data file;

Description: For note description;

Level: The standard level, for calibration standard;

Sample content: The concentration of the sample used for injection before dilution;

Result path: The path where the data file is saved, which is selectable;

Result name: the file name under the save path of the data file;

Run: After the sequence is edited and saved, click Run to submit the sequence table. After the instrument is ready, the instrument will perform data acquisition and analysis in the order of the currently saved sequence, and the real-time spectrum will be displayed in the Status/Online Signal window. After clicking Run, the button will change to Pause; click Pause, the instrument will finish running the current sample, and other sequences will wait to run; after clicking Pause, the button will change to Continue; click Continue, the instrument will run the rest of the sequence according to the sequence table.

Stop: When the sequence is running, the sequence will stop running and the real-time spectrum will stop collecting data.

3.2.5 View

Click View/View Edit to enter the view edit window. The windows are classified by modules. Users may select the window and click "Add" or "Remove" to customize the necessary parameters to monitor, and configure up to 8 parameters. Click "Restore Ex-factory", the default selected window is the column oven temperature; click "OK" to show the selected window in the status-monitoring column.

Available million		selected window
GC Information • Total method runnins Extend trigger flag Instrument status Process running stab Valve box temperatu Front inlet Column pressure at I Septum purging at fr Front detector Front detector hydro Front detector rake Front detector rake Front detector rakit Front detector rakit Front detector rakit Front detector rakit Front detector rakit	Add a > Rem Factory	GC system status Method running time Diven temperature Column flow an Front inlet Front indet temperature Total flow at front olet Front detector air flow Front detector temperature

Figure 3-32 View edit window

3.2.6 Control

3.2.6.1 Switch user

A administrator	
8	
Login	

Figure 3-33 User login interface (user name and password required)

Click [Control/Switch User] to log in other users (can be customized according to requirements). Users need to re-enter the user name and password to enter the acquisition software for related operations.

3.2.6.2 Lock screen

		×
1	A administrator	
	8	
	Login	
	///	
Note: Please enter username and	i password.	

Figure 3-34 User lock login screen (password required)

3 Man-machine interaction

Click [Control/Lock Screen] to lock the current user, where any operations cannot be performed on the software. To resume operation, users only need to re-enter the password to enter the acquisition software without the necessity to enter a user name. If no one operates the software within 5 min, the acquisition software will automatically lock the screen.

3.2.6.3 Pressure decay test

Pressure decay test after column	24
removal	
☑ Front inlet	
Rear inlet	
Next	
Pressure decay test	×
Pressure decay test after column removal	
A Note: The column at the inlet end needs to be disassembled, and the lower end of the inlet	
Previous Next	
line	~
149	^
On Unconventional operation, there are deviations in the test result	s. Do
you want to continue?	
ОК С	ancel
ОК С	ancel
OK C	ancel ×
Pressure decay test Pressure decay test after column removal	ancel ×
Pressure decay test Pressure decay test after column removal	ancel ×
Pressure decay test Pressure decay test after column removal	x
Pressure decay test Pressure decay test after column removal Use the supporting nut to plug the septum purging outlet.	×
Pressure decay test Pressure decay test after column removal Use the supporting nut to plug the septum purging outlet.	×

-		
Pressure decay test		×
	Pressure decay test after column removal	
	Plug the column outlet at inlet with a plug.	
	Previous Next	
Pressure decay test		×
	Pressure decay test after column removal	
Process status:	Adjust column front pressure	
Target column	172	
Current column	172.015	
The column	pressure drop within 600s shall be less than 3.4Kpa	

Figure 3-35 Pressure decay test window

The pressure decay test is the holding pressure test, which is used to determine whether the inlet system is leaking. The internal and external air tightness test will be carried out in the factory test of the instrument, so users generally do not need to carry out the pressure decay test when using the instrument.

Click [Control/Pressure Decay Test] to select the front/rear injection port for pressure decay test. Check the location of the inlet, click "Next", follow the test steps to remove the chromatographic column, and judge whether the temperature of the inlet and column oven is below 50°C, then click "Next", and "OK". Follow the prompts "Please use the matching nut to block the septum purge outlet" and "Please use the chromatographic column plug to block the injection port chromatographic outlet", use the sealing nut and the chromatographic column plug, respectively, to block the septum purge outlet and the inlet chromatographic column connection port. Click "Next" to start the pressure decay test. A drop value of the precolumn pressure exceeding 3.4 kPa within 10 min indicates an air leak in the inlet system, when the positioning problem needs to be checked.

3.2.6.4 Communication settings

	warning	×
Communication settings	Communication test succeeded	ł
IP address: 172.25.10 .10	Test	

Figure 3-36 Communication settings window

Click [Control/Communication Settings], enter GC IP address 172.25.10.10, and click "Test" to test the communication connection. If it shows that the communication test failed, it means the failure of communication, and the positioning problem needs to be checked.

3.2.6.5 Module configuration

Rouge Selles	literal.	-	
front intet	Used		
Rear inlet	Nonuse	4	
Front	Nonuse	-Q	
Rear	Used	4	
Avan EPCI	Nanuse	4	
Aux EPC2	Nonuse	~	
		-	

Figure 3-37 Module configuration window

Click [Control/Module Configuration] to enter the module configuration interface, click "Read" to read the use or non-use status of all configuration modules of the current instrument; to change the module use status, click "Set" to change the use or non-use status of each module.

3.2.7 Help 3.2.7.1 About



Figure 3-38 About the view window

Click [Help/About] to view GC 2000 acquisition software version and company website and other related information.

3.2.7.2 User Manual

Click [Help/User Manual] to view GC 2000 User Manual.

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph **3.2.7.3** Instrument information

version	XXXXXXXXXXXXX	
NCU software ver	rsion:	
GC mainboard	GC 2000.4029B.U0002.T1A.005	
Front inlet board	GC 2000.0652B.U0608.V1A.005	
Front detector	GC 2000.06528.U0608.T1A.004	
Front detector board	GC 2000.06528.U0608.T1A.004	

Figure 3-39 Instrument Information Window

Click [Help/Instrument Information], and click Read to view the instrument version and MCU software version information.

3.2.7.4 Alarm query

P Harm query	×	D Marmitpery						×
Curvent alars Risterical alars		Current alars Ristorical als	178					
Alers Alers sons Alers source Alers lord First dur Let durs Alers description		klam nee klam leet	*	Tine type From	First dare tis 2023-04-19 00:0	• •		
		klam source	v	Is	2022-06-19 23:8	× 10+	9tery	
		Alurs Alurs sues Oct500 Etherset slea	Klare neuros (20200	Alur Lov Fellus	d first die. 302-04-19.	Latt dars. 2023-94-97.	Alars das. 2023-04-19.	New Amriptica Therait researction fol
	Befreik	×						

Figure 3-40 Alarm query window (current alarm - left, historical alarm - right)

Click [Help/Alarm Query] to view the current alarm information and historical alarm information. This information is used to prompt the current or historical problems of the instrument, which is convenient for troubleshooting and locating the cause. In the current alarm window, click "Refresh" to view the current latest alarm information. Historical alarms can be filtered and queried by alarm name, alarm level, alarm source, time type and time range.

3.3 Data analysis software operation

Double-click the icon of the GC 2000 analysis software to enter the main interface.



Figure 3-41 Main interface of GC 2000 analysis software

3.3.1 Introduction of function bars

Qualitative analysis (X) Quantitative method (M) Batch processing (T) Report management (R) View management (V) Log management (L) Help (H)

3.3.1.1 Qualitative analysis

Click to enter the qualitative analysis interface, so as to perform qualitative analysis on the spectrum.

3.3.1.2 Quantitative method

Click to enter the quantitative method edit interface so as to create, open or edit a method.

3.3.1.3 Batch processing

Batch processing edit interface, so as to create, open, save or save a batch table.

3.3.1.4 Report management

Click to enter the report template management interface, so as to edit the elements that need to be generated in the report.

3.3.1.5 View management

It is possible to edit, display or hidden the sample information and compound information display windows of the current interface.

3.3.1.6 Help

(1) About

3 Man-machine interaction

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph



Figure 3-42 About the view interface

Click [Help/About] to view the GC 2000 analysis software version and company website and other related information.

(2) System help

Click [Help/System Help] to view the GC 2000 Analysis Software User Manual.

(3) Gadgets

Click Calculator, Notepad, Screenshot Tool, and Molecular Weight Calculator to use the corresponding functions.

3.3.2 Introduction of shortcut bars

이 😅 글 찍 🖉 🖉 🖉 🖉 🕨 🗧 💷 💿 😳 🏢 🗢 🔍 🚽 🐼 😳 🔛 🕗 🖤 🎔 💝 🏹

New Sample List: Click the New Sample List button¹ to create a new batch table sample list;

Open Sample List: Click the Open Sample List button to open the existing sample list;

Save sample list: Click Save Sample List to save the current sample list;

Save Sample List as: Click Save Sample List As to save the current sample list;

Import Samples from Folder: Click the Import Samples from Folder button import all samples in the folder;

Import Samples: Click the Import Samples button to select single or multiple samples to import into the sample list;

Delete Sample: Click the Delete Sample button ¹⁶ to delete the selected single sample in the sample list;

Sample Information: Click the Sample Information button is to view the sample information of the currently selected sample;

Compound Information: Click the Compound Information button to view the compound information of the currently selected sample;

Analysis Batch: Click the Analysis Batch button *k* to automatically analyze all samples in the batch;

Quantitative batch processing: Click the Analyze Batch button 🖹 to automatically analyze all samples in the

Portrait view: Click the Portrait view button to change the result list after batch processing into vertical display;

Horizontal compound: Click the horizontal compound button in to display the batch result according to the horizontal compound;

Horizontal sample: Click the horizontal sample button to change the list of results after batch processing into horizontal display;

Previous Sample: Click the Previous Sample button is to move the selected bar up one row, that is, select the previous row of samples;

Next Sample: Click the Next Sample button where the selected column down one row, that is, select the next row of samples;

All Compounds: Click the all Compounds button in display all compound results defined in the processing method in a batch table;

Previous Compound: Click the Previous Compound button ^{see} to display the calculation result of the previous compound;

Next Compound: Click the Next Compound button 🖻 to display the calculation result of the next compound;

Generate Report: Click the Generate Report button **set to generate a result report;**

Compound Expected Concentration: Click on Compound Expected Concentration is to set the expected concentration of each compound;

Show Statistics: Click on Show Statistics utomatically calculate the maximum, minimum, average, RSD and other information of each result;

Trend Statistics: Click the Trend Statistics button ²²² to show the trend of the treatment results of the compound;

Export to Excel: Click the Export to Excel button it to export the results to an excel file;

Show Samples Above/Below Outliers: Click the Show Samples Above/Below Outliers button **to** filter out sample results above/below outliers;

Show Samples Above Outliers: Click the Show Samples Above Outliers **Section** to filter out sample results above outliers;

Show Samples Below Outliers: Click the Show Samples Below Outliers button it to filter out sample results below outliers;

Show Samples Without Outliers: Click the Samples Without Outliers button Mitter out sample results without outliers.

3.3.3 Qualitative analysis



Figure 3-43 Qualitative analysis window

3.3.3.1 Data browse window

The called data files are listed here. A dialog box that can select/deselect a file or a graph, optionally displaying data files and associated spectra. Right-click on a data file to close the selected data or all data files.

File (F) Edit	(E) View (V) Toul (T)	Meth	ad mi	Chromato	igran
lats brooser				Carmentogram	Tecu
			1 - 1	CIT 5	\$
eDg	Show chrometogram		50	etted data	-
	Close chromatogram	11	Ai	date	_
	Close data	+			_
	Unfold all data			20 -	
	Fold all data	- 1			

Figure 3-44 Data browse window

3.3.3.2 Method manager window

The parameters of the data processing of the current method are displayed here. Under the qualitative method operation item, users may create a new method, and open, save or save as the edited method. Integral parameters, smoothing parameters and signal-to-noise ratio parameters can be set under the qualitative method settings.



Figure 3-45 Method manager window

Click any parameter in the optional method settings to pop up the parameter editor window. These parameters can be modified, applied and saved.

Teak width > 0.01	-	The relative height of	10	
Post ares > 0	=1	Ships at start 4	i.	
Relative area > 0		filé slopé S	ī	
reak haight \$ 0		Total peak points >	5	
Selative peak 10		Integration window	1	sis
Peak cluster propagating			110	
M	1	M D	A	
C Single peak	@ 1er	usal desp to dis time	-ome-ti	on of th
Belative beight of vall	au 16 60			

Figure 3-46 Qualitative parameter edit window

3.3.3.3 Chromatogram result window

Hold down the right mouse button and pull out a rectangle to zoom in on the selected spectrum. Click the tool bar icon in the chromatogram window to restore the full scale display.



Figure 3-47 Chromatogram result window

3.3.3.4 Peak information list window

Click the Peak Information List button in the chromatogram result to display the peak information list, and display each peak information one by one according to the retention time. Right-click anywhere in this window to edit the list information.



Figure 3-48 Peak information list window

3.3.3.5 Chromatogram integration

Click the integration parameter in the method manager or the integration parameter in the chromatogram result to pop up the integration parameter edit window, and set the following parameters to filter the unwanted impurity peaks. After editing the integration parameters, click Apply to complete the automatic integration, and the integrated results are displayed in the peak information list display window.

If manual integration is required, click the Manual Integration button on the top of the chromatogram window to show rectangular black dots in the chromatogram, and hold the left button of the mouse to drag the position of the black dots, and draw a line to outline the chromatographic peak that needs to be integrated. The chromatographic peak will appear with the parameters of the peak displayed.



Figure 3-49 Qualitative parameter edit window

3.3.4 Quantitative analysis

3.3.4.1 New batch table

Click Batch Table/New Batch, or click the New Sample List icon¹ to create a new batch table;

Click Batch Table/Open Batch, or click the Open Sample List icon , find the storage path of the previously saved batch table, select the batch table file, and click Open to open the saved batch table;

Click Batch Table/Save Batch, or click the Save Sample List icon , select the storage path, edit the name of the sample batch table, and click Save to save the current batch table;

Click Batch Table/Save Batch As, or click the Save Sample List icon 11, select the storage path, edit the

3 Man-machine interaction

name of the sample batch table, and click Save to save the batch table.

Qualitativ	e an	alysis	(X) Qua	ntitative meth	(M) bot	Batch processing (T)	Report management (R)
a 31 2	16	i ja	Sam	d u ing u Iple informatio		New batch (N) Open batch (O)	-
9	¥	4	Data file	Data time	Quantita	Save batch (S)	

Figure 3-50 Batch table - new batch/open batch/save batch/save batch as

3.3.4.2 Import data file

Click the sample icon in the import folder 3, find the folder where the data is located, select it and click OK to import all data files in a folder. Or click the import sample icon 3, find the data file to be imported, and import one or more data files.

If there is a quantitative method, users may right-click on the blank space in the theorem method column in batch processing to select the loading method, and select the quantitative method file in the pop-up window to load it. Users can also choose to fill down the quantitative methods of other data files. If it is necessary to edit the quantitative method, users may select the editing method and enter the quantitative method to edit the method.

Que	ita a	ana tive	lysis and	so	ftware is (X) Quantitative method ()	0 Batch processin	ig (T) Report management (R)	View management (V) Log management (L) Help /Hi
E ·	da la	4	3	1	STAR FR			7979 9 10 10 10 10 10
	T	_	-		Sample in	formation		
		1	۴	1	Data file	Data time	Quantitation method	
+ 1	:			4	G_1mg-1(BackDetector).gcDat	2022/10/19 9:46:17		
2	2			1	0.1mg-1(FrontDetector).gcDat	2022/10/19 9:46:18	Load method	
3	3			\mathcal{X}	0.1mg-2(BackDetector).gcDat	2022/10/19 9:50:36	Edit method	
4	+			3	0.1mg-2(FrontDetector).gcDat	2022/10/19 9:50:37	Save method as	
					and the spectra state of the second		Fill down	

Figure 3-51 Batch table - Import data file

3.3.4.3 New quantitative method

Click quantitative method to enter the quantitative method interface, click save method button 🛃 or save method as button 🚵 to customize the storage path and enter the quantitative method name.

Click the new method button 🗋 to create a quantitative method and edit or modify it.

Click the open method button if to find the path of the previously saved quantitative method, select the quantitative method file, and click Open to open the saved quantitative method.

(1) New/add compound

Click Add Compound from Data under New/Add Compound on the left, and select single or multiple data files (preferably the data file with the best signal and the most representative data file). If there is an existing method, click Add compound from method. After opening the data, the data file can be displayed in the right sample data column.

Click New Compound, enter the compound name and retention time in the compound list on the right to

complete, as shown in the figure below. Click Delete Compound or Delete All Compounds to delete the selected compound or all compounds.

The Physics of the second	av 102-10			- 0 *
FRE P1 Method (M) Yers	NT Hep (H			
M 40 7 15 6				
Son/ald, compound	Gegla deta			
All responds from Arra	Sample name Data the Acquisition method Data time Operator			
All request from school.	 t Interaction (Contraction) 2022-01-09 09965 administra 			
Her respond				
Delets respond				
paints all maprends				
Article Hitting				
With cattings	Corposed Scot			
Consistential in home has	Tompount name Compound type Retention time limit Laft variation Right natiation			
Constant with the section at	1 A Terest substance 31 mm 65 8.5			
Berlin antilan				
Totation lies				
Annual				
Curry M				
falibration corre-				
Ingest Level, data				
Delete Level data				
hit curve				
Visy militration curve.	Gaula Information			
advance pettings	N 5 Q B = Overstoore vis			
Told Galag parameters	5 Intel (Proof Detector)			
Section parameter			and the second se	1.73e1 (A
188 parameter			21	-3.01 mm
Other parameters	21		D.	
	8.9			
	1 1			
	P + 4			
	14	112		
		1		
				Tas 1
	9 35	1.5	2 28	3 88
	Capated followities			
	X35 · QQA · · CLL			
	10.			
	m -			
	2 7 1			
	1 1			
	2 1			
	10			

Figure 3-52 Quantitative method edit interface

(2) Method settings

• Retention time settings

Click Retention time setting to check and confirm the imported parameters (preferably group samples by retention time as much as possible to avoid interference);

Checking whether the retention time corresponds to the left and right changes may set the retention time range. When the retention time drifts a lot, users can appropriately widen the range to ensure that the target peak is found. In this example, it is set to be 0.5 min. The offset unit can also be set as a percentage, which can be selected according to actual needs.

Mothod settings									
Retention time settings									
ISTD settings	Co	npot	ind 1	ist					
Concentration settings			*	Compound name	Compound type	Retention time	Unit	Left variation	Right variation
Curve settings	*	1		A	Target substance	2.1	min	0.5	0.5
Outlier settings									

Figure 3-53 Method settings - Retention time settings

ISTD settings

If using the internal standard method, click ISTD Settings, check the Use ISTD box in the row of the target compound, and select the corresponding internal standard name.

This step should be ignored if quantification is performed with external standard method. Different target compounds can be quantified by matching different internal standards, and compounds without internal standards are automatically processed by the external standard method.

Method settings								
Retention time settings	0		. 1 7					
ISTD settings	Cor	mpou	ind 1	ASE		A COLOR DOCT		
Concentration settings				Compound name	Compound type	Retention time	Use ISTD	Internal standard substance name
Curve settings		1		A	Target substance	2.1	2	в -
Outlier settings		2		В	ISTD	1.42		

Figure 3-54 Method settings - ISTD settings

• Density setting

Click Concentration Settings to change the maximum concentration, dilution mode, concentration unit and multiplier. If the standard concentration is 100 ng/mL, 500 ng/mL, 1000 ng/mL, 5000 ng/mL, 10000 ng/mL and 50000 ng/mL, the highest concentration is 50000 ppb, and the dilution mode is 1:5: 2:5:2:5, concentration in ng/mL. There are 3 options for concentration units: ng/mL, µg/mL and µg/kg.

Mative settings										
Estention time settings	Desgona	list								
Concentration settings		Contribund name	Compound type	Rebendon time	Naument concentration	Dilution mode	Concentration und	Multiplicative fector	Conection factor	Rebitive-concentration
Owye settings	* 1	à	Target submanite	21	1	1	ng/mL -	3	I	

Figure 3-55 Method settings - Concentration settings

• Calibration curve settings

Click Calibration Curve Settings to set parameters such as calibration curve fitting type, fitting origin and weight type.

Fit types: linear, square, power of 3, and average factor. Generally select linear or squared curve as the calibration curve fitting type.

Fit origin: ignore, include, force, blank offset, blank subtract. In case of a single-point legal quantity which cannot be ignored, Include or Force should be chosen.

The fit type of the calibration curve and the fit origin will affect the final quantitative results.

Method settings								
Retention time settings	Comy	pound 1	ist					
Concentration settings		۲	Compound name	Compound type	Retention time	Fit type	Fit origin	Weight type
Curve settings	,	1	A	Target.substance	2.1	Lnear	Ignore	None

Figure 3-56 Method settings - Calibration curve settings

(3) Outlier settings

Using the range of outlier data can quickly and effectively help determine unreasonable data.

For the configuration of upper and lower limits of outliers, users may set the retention time, accuracy and curve R^2 . When the corresponding result exceeds the set value, it is regarded as an outlier.

• Retention time settings

Outlier settings	Compou	nd 1	ist.	-	_		
Retention time		٣	Compound name	Compound type	Retention time	RT window	RT unit
Accuracy Curve R2	F		A	Target substance	2,1	0.2	min

Figure 3-57 Outlier settings - Retention time settings

• Accuracy settings

3	Man-machine	interaction
---	-------------	-------------

Dutlier settings	Conpound 1	ist				
Retention time		Compound name	Compound type	Retention time	Maximum accuracy devation (%)	LOD accuracy multiplier
Accuracy	1.1	A	Target substance	2.1	20	1
Curve R2						topo .

Figure 3-58 Outlier settings - Accuracy settings

• Curve R² Settings

Outlier settings	Com	pou	nd 1	ist		_	
Retention time			۴	Compound name	Compound type	Retention time	Curve minimum R ²
Accuracy	+	1		A.	Target substance	2.1	0.99
Curve R2							



- (4) Calibration curve
- Import level data

If it is necessary to establish a calibration curve, users need to click Import Level Data, select data from the pop-up window, modify the level of each data after importing, number them in order of concentration, and enter the order of concentration in turn in the dilution mode of the concentration setting in the method setting.

Bar full empressi	erel, data	
Add responds from data.	Sergie name data file unvei Sergie type, Accustor method Dea brea Downtor	
this corporate from wathred	1 0.1mg/(Furthetetur) 1 Standart 2022-18-26 dews admostra	
Bos proposal	2 0.3mp/(Priorffieterus) 2 Standard 2002-19-09-8956 administra	
Juliate competed	1 0.Smp (FirstHetetur) 1 Standard 2002-19-09 10394 admosts	
Sulate all compression	a samp (Frunthitetus) 4 Vandard 2002 (Province admosts	
Brited sattings	5 1.5mp ((Furthetertar) 5 Standart 2002 19-19 1022 admosts	
Betention time pettings	 2.0mo((Prottlettertur) e transat 2022/36/38 10022 	
1010 estnings Contentration settings	7 C Samplinetherard + Sector (STUD) 1993 (Sector)	
Carso settings		
Casilier settings	aspend list	
Istation time	* Cotestadi sana Companitibasi Rataritan Ima	
Annurary	A Transferance 21	
Carro 32		
Call is show mere		
Tepart Lotal data		
Bulets Level date.		
Tid perm		
They estimation over	and a laboration	

Figure 3-60 Calibration curve - Import level data

• Delete level data

Users may select a certain level of data and click Delete Level Data to delete it.

• Fitted curve

Click the fitted curve to view the fitted calibration curve.

• View calibration curve

Click View Calibration Curve to view the Quantitative Curves window.



Figure 3-61 Quantitative curve window

(5) Advanced settings

• Peak finding parameters

Click the peak search parameter in the advanced settings to pop up the integration parameter editing interface. For specific functions, see 3.3.3.5 Chromatogram integration.

• Smoothing parameter

Click the smoothing parameter in the advanced settings to pop up the smoothing parameter editing interface, and modify the window size, fitting times and smoothing times as required.

Smoothing parameter)
Smoothing type	Savitzky_Golay	~	
Smoothing times	1	~	
Vindow size	5		
Fit times	2		

Figure 3-62 Smoothing settings window

• Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) parameter

Click the SNR parameter in the advanced settings to pop up the SNR parameter editing interface, and modify the SNR type, noise width and SNR calculation method as needed.

SNR settings		×
SNR type	RMS ~	1
Noise bandwidth	0.2	min
Naise interval	Fixed noise m	thod
Notat Interval		
Noise level	Aotomatic call	%
		OK Cancel

Figure 3-63 Signal-to-noise ratio settings window

3.3.4.4 Exit and save the quantitative method

Click the save method in the file or click the icon does not be a save the quantitative method.

Click Exit in the file or close directly in the upper right corner to exit the quantitative method editing interface.

Users may also save a quantitative method before exiting quantitative method editing. In this way, when quantifying other data of the same project in the future, this quantitative method can be directly called for quantification without re-establishing the quantitative method.

3.3.5 Data analysis

3.3.5.1 Quantitative batch

Right-click on the blank space under the Quantitative Method column of the batch table, select Load Method,

and fill it down. Click Quantitative Batch icon, and the data can be analyzed in batches. After the analysis is completed, the interface consists of the target data results, the target spectrum results and the calibration curve.



Figure 3-64 Quantitative batch results

See 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 for the function introduction of the upper function bar and shortcut keys.

3.3.5.2 Save batch table

Click the save button to save the current batch table.

3.3.6 Report generation

3.3.6.1 Report configuration

Click the report configuration under the report management button to pop up the report configuration window, including basic information and report column configuration. The report column configuration includes sample information, compound information and quantitative curve information. After the configuration is complete, click OK in the lower right corner.

1. Basic information configuration

Tick the small box in front of the content that needs to be displayed in the report.

Report timplate detault		×
Insis information configuration Report -	odum configuration	
Company mana		
Trint sample summary		
🗌 Print sample information	Prist empeusid information	Print nothed information
Trint chronatogram	Triat quantitative curve	Efriat ass report
Drint signature	Antimetically add page number	ers Print and topest 1
Dirint report poperation time		
₽ Level-1	_	
Davel-S		
Level-3		
Lavel-4		
	Spin	Surs Jurs

Figure 3-65 Report configuration - Basic information

2. Report column configuration

asic information confi	guration Report colu	mn configuration Sequence summary	curve inform summary.	ation and sequen	ice	
Whether to use	Column name	uantitative curve	in	Show when null		^
	Sample name	sedaerce zawera	1			
	Nume of sequence					
Whathar to use each	Name of sequence					
element is checked	Description of seque	nce				
through this column	Creation time of sec	ra	This the	3 column can cus display of empty	tomize values	
	Creator			aispiay of empty	varaes	
	Sample type					
	Level	771 1				
	Injection value	the data precisio	n			
	Multiplicative facto	a.				
	Dilution factor					
	Order number	This col	umn displays e	each		
-	Acquisition method	element	name			

Figure 3-66 Report configuration - report column configuration

3.3.6.2 Generate report

Click the Generate Report icon keeping, select the compounds to be printed in the pop-up window, and click OK to generate the preview report.

-	Prink compoun	nd selection	^
	Whether to print	Compound name	
۲	2	Å	

Figure 3-67 Print compound selection window

4 Instrument operation and maintenance

4.1 About instrument operation

4.1.1 chromatographic column installation

Take the installation of a capillary column as an example.

Note:

Chromatographic column installation and maintenance requires turning off the oven heating.

A. Install the chromatographic column holder

On the top of the inside of the GC 2000 oven, there is a pair of bracket holes in each of the front, middle, and rear parts, for mounting brackets. Insert the squeezable bracket into the bracket hole.

- B. Install the column fitting
- 1. Select the ferrule

When connecting both ends of the chromatographic column to the injector and detector, a vespel and graphite hybrid ferrule is required. Table 4-1 lists the hybrid pressure rings corresponding to different chromatographic column sizes. During use, the same or similar retaining rings should be used; otherwise it will cause leakage or pollution.

Chromatographic column outer diameter (mm)	Inner diameter of the ferrule (mm)
0.10	0.4
0.25	0.4
0.32	0.5
0.53	0.8

Table 4-1 Chromatographic column and corresponding pressure ring size

2. Install marker pad, nut and ferrule, cut the chromatographic column

Install the corresponding marking pad, chromatographic column nut and pressure ring on one end of the chromatographic column in sequence, make a mark 3-4 cm from the opening with a capillary column cutter, and knock it off. Check the cutting surface to make sure it is flat and vertical. If there is any problem, it must be cut again.

3. Connect the chromatographic column to the split/splitless inlet.

Adjust the length of the chromatographic column so that it is smoothly connected to the inlet, and adjust the position of the marking pad to keep the nut in a certain position. At this time, the distance between the chromatographic column port and the ferrule should be about 4~6 mm. Always hold the chromatographic column with one hand so that the marking pad is always in contact with the nut and will not slide down. Hold the fixing nut with the other hand and insert the chromatographic column into the inlet, screw on the nut counterclockwise, then turn it another 1/4" turn with a wrench after tightening. If the column is still loose, use the wrench to rotate it for another 1/4" circle.

Note:

An over-tightened pressure ring causes air leak at the connection point.

4. Connect the chromatographic column to the FID

Repeat Step 2. Insert the chromatographic column port into the FID until reaching the bottom, and the length of the chromatographic column extending beyond the column nut is 78.5 ± 0.5 mm. Hold the column in one hand securely, screw the nut with the other hand, and move the marker pad to fit against the nut after tightening. Retract the chromatographic column by $1\sim2$ mm. At this time, there is a slight gap between the marking washer and the nut. Use a wrench to rotate the nut for 1/4" circle; if it is loose, rotate it another for 1/4" circle.

5. Connect the chromatographic column to the FPD

Repeat Step 2. Extend the chromatographic column port into the FPD; the chromatographic column should be flush with the FPD nozzle, and the length of the chromatographic column extending beyond the column nut should be 82 mm. Hold the column in one hand securely, screw the nut with the other hand, and move the marker pad to fit against the nut after tightening. Retract the chromatographic column by 1~2 mm. At this time, there is a slight gap between the marking washer and the nut. Use a wrench to rotate the nut for 1/4" circle; if it is loose, rotate it another for 1/4" circle.

4.2 About maintaining GC

4.2.1 Maintenance content

This manual describes how to maintain the following GC components:

Split/Splitless inlet (SSL) Capillary column Flame ionization detector (FID)

Electron capture detector (ECD)

Flame photometric detector (FPD)

4.2.2 Maintenance preparations

Before performing routine maintenance procedures, necessary preparations for GC must be made as follows:

(1) Set a low temperature (50°C) to avoid burns, and cool all heating zones in the GC, including auxiliary heaters or other heating equipment that may be touched during maintenance, including injection ports, column ovens, and detectors;

- (2) Shut off the flow to prevent any danger or damage to the instrument;
- (3) Turn off the GC and disconnect the power;
- (4) Remove the covers, including the air control assembly cover, and the detector cover.

4.3 Split/Splitless inlet maintenance

4.3.1 Split/Splitless inlet configuration

The inlet is composed of main body, flow path adapter block, septum nut, septum pressure block, heating

block, stop nut, adapter nut, heating rod and PT100.The septum, liner and seal, and splitter plate of the inlet require regular maintenance.



Figure 4-1 Inlet structure diagram

4.3.2 Inlet maintenance

4.3.2.1 Replace the septum

The septum is one of the key components of the inlet, whose function is to keep the chromatographic system in a sealed state. It is generally made of inert silica gel material with high temperature resistance and good air tightness. The septum is a consumable that needs to be inspected regularly and replaced as needed to prevent air leakage or contamination and decomposition due to long-term use, which may interfere with analysis.

The septum may leak after multiple injections. Generally, the septum needs to be replaced for more than 100 injections, and the specific situation can be adjusted according to the injection frequency.

According to the type of inlet and analysis requirements, there are many kinds of injection septa, which are made of different materials, generally divided into two categories: low temperature septum and high temperature septum. The low temperature septum is soft and provides good sealing performance. Compared with the high temperature septum, it has better puncture resistance and can be injected more frequently. The septum is usually used at the maximum operating temperature specified by the manufacturer. If it is used above the maximum temperature, gas leakage or decomposition will occur, resulting in sample loss, less column carrier gas flow, shorter column life, and ghost peaks.

To replace the injection septum, users should loosen the inlet septum nut by hand, take out the septum with tweezers, and check whether the septum is damaged. If damaged, replace it with a new one. After installing the septum, check whether it is fully embedded in the inlet, and then tighten the nut of the inlet septum by hand securely.

4 Instrument operation and maintenance



Figure 4-2 To replace the septum, users should unscrew the septum nut by hand, remove the septum with tweezers, and insert the new septum into the inlet

Warning:

The inlet septum nut and assembly may be hot during instrument operation and should not be touched without protection.

Note:

Before changing the septum, turn off the inlet carrier gas flow and pressure.

4.3.2.2 Replace the liner

The liner is the central component in the inlet, where the sample is vaporized into gas at high temperatures. The role of the inlet is to introduce the sample into the chromatographic system accurately and reproducibly. At high temperature, the liquid sample vaporized at the inlet becomes gaseous and enters the head of the column, while the sample volume increases significantly. Because the sample vaporizes at the liner, if the sample is dirty and contains many impurities, it is easy to contaminate the liner and interfere with the test results. Thus, the liner needs to be replaced regularly.

Typically, the sample will expand after vaporizing in the liner, and the volume of gas produced by vaporizing the liner must be within the volume of the liner. If the volume is larger than the liner, sample loss due to sample backflushing into the septum purge or split line can affect peak reproducibility and sensitivity, and often lead to sample carryover. Therefore, it is necessary to select a suitable liner during the analysis. In the case of split flow, the split liner is usually selected. For splitless injection and some special applications, the appropriate liner should be selected according to the actual application.

To replace the liner, users should unscrew the flow path adapter block counterclockwise with a socket wrench, and take out the liner with tweezers. Check the glass wool in the liner. If the liner is too dirty (a lot of black particles or septum debris on the glass wool), users need to replace the liner with a new one. After placing

the new liner in the inlet, use tweezers to push the liner until the bottom stops moving.



Figure 4-3 To replace the liner, users should unscrew the flow adapter block with a socket wrench, remove the liner with tweezers, place a new liner in the inlet, and push on the bottom

4.3.2.3 Replace the sealing O-ring

The inlet needs to be sealed with a sealing O-ring. Because the inlet is often used at high temperature, the requirements for the sealing ring are higher, and different sealing rings are selected according to different application needs. O-rings are consumables that need to be inspected regularly and replaced as needed.

The steps for replacing the sealing ring are as follows:

Use a socket wrench to remove the flow path adapter block, and check whether the two sealing O-rings 1 are damaged. If damaged, a new O-ring needs to be replaced.

The sealing O-ring 2 is applied to separate the entire injection chamber. Usually, when replacing the liner, if the sealing O-ring 2 has been used for a long time or is damaged, the sealing O-ring can be replaced as well. Remove the damaged sealing ring, fix the new sealing ring at the top 10 mm of the liner, put the liner into the injection port, and use tweezers to push the liner until the bottom cannot move.



Figure 4-4 To replace the sealing ring, users should check two sealing rings 1, damaged sealing ring 2, and intact sealing ring 2

4.3.2.4 Replace the pressure ring

To replace the pressure ring, users should loosen the chromatographic column nut with an inch 1/4" fixed wrench, and check whether the polyimide/graphite mixed pressure ring is damaged. If damaged, it needs to be replaced with a new mixed pressure ring (0.25 mm column with 0.4 mm outer diameter, 0.32 mm column with 0.50 mm outer diameter).

4.3.2.5 Replace the splitter plate

The splitter plate supports the liner and guides the carrier gas flow, and generally does not need to be replaced.

To replace the splitter plate, users should loosen the two M3 screws with a Phillips screwdriver, remove the inlet insulation cover, use an adjustable wrench to remove the adapter nut at the splitter plate, remove the splitter plate and check the splitter plate; if there is dirt on the surface, clean the splitter plate; if the sealing ring is worn, it needs to be replaced with a new one. After placing the splitter plate flat in the adapter nut (the flat surface is facing up), use a wrench to tighten it securely.



Figure 4-5 Splitter plate

4.4 Capillary column maintenance

4.4.1 Replace the chromatographic column

The chromatographic column needs to be replaced when measuring different samples.

When replacing the chromatographic column, use a 1/4" wrench to loosen the chromatographic column nut connecting the inlet and the detector counterclockwise and then remove it. The inlet end and detector end column headers need to be cut flat with a column cutter.

When installing the chromatographic column, pay attention to the length of the chromatographic column extending into the inlet at the inlet end. Generally, the chromatographic column can be $4\sim6$ mm higher than the chromatographic column nut, as shown in Figure 4-6, and then use a 1/4" wrench to tighten it securely.



Figure 4-6 Schematic diagram of chromatographic column and inlet installation

If the detector end is connected to the FID, generally extend the chromatographic column into the detector, and after inserting it to the bottom, pull it back about 1 mm, and then tighten it with a 1/4" wrench.

For detailed operation, see 4.1.1 Chromatographic column installation.

4.4.2 Chromatographic column conditioning

Usually new chromatographic columns need to be conditioned before use. For specific conditioning steps, please refer to the chromatographic column's operation manual. Analytical columns should be conditioned according to the manufacturer's recommended conditions.

Long-term use of the chromatographic column may cause high-boiling impurities in the sample to remain in the chromatographic column, resulting in lower column efficiency and higher baseline. For the conditioning temperature, refer to the analysis conditions to be carried out, and 20°C can be added to the maximum temperature of the method for conditioning, but it must not exceed the upper temperature limit of the chromatographic column.

To conduct the conditioning method of universal chromatographic column, if there is no analytical method, the conditioning should be performed at the upper limit of the constant temperature of the chromatographic column minus 20° C.Generally, the chromatographic column gradually increases from low temperature to high temperature during conditioning, and keeps it in the high temperature section for $1\sim2$ h, and then repeats the heating process.

To determining if a chromatographic column is sufficiently conditioned, a bleed curve (a chromatogram obtained by running a temperature program without injection) can be used to check for adequate conditioning after a chromatographic column is conditioned. The normal bleed curve rises smoothly with increasing temperature and exhibits no obvious spurious peaks.



Figure 4-7 Churn curve

Usually the chromatographic column is connected to the detector for chromatographic column conditioning without contaminating the detector, but for a high sensitivity detector (ECD), it is recommended that the chromatographic column outlet should not be connected to the detector during conditioning.

Note: The maximum temperature cannot exceed its maximum operating temperature (refer to the chromatographic column temperature requirements for details). As the chromatographic column conditions, the column flow can be appropriately increased.

4.5 Detector maintenance

GC 2000 detectors include three commonly used detectors, as shown below.

Table 4-2 Detector type

4 Instrument operation and maintenance

Detector type	Column type	Remarks
Hydrogen flame ionization detector (FID)	Capillary column or packed column	Mass detector for most organics detection
Electron capture detector (ECD)	Capillary column	Selective detector, commonly used for halogenated hydrocarbon detection
Flame photometric detector (FPD)	Capillary column	Selective detector, often used for the detection of sulfur or phosphorus containing organics

Warning:

When using hydrogen as a carrier gas, it should be known that hydrogen is a flammable gas. Any leaked hydrogen in a closed space, e.g., a column oven, may cause combustion and explosion. Wherever hydrogen is required, all connections, lines, and valves should be leak-tested before using the instrument.

Before the instrument uses hydrogen, the hydrogen source should be turned off. When hydrogen is supplied to the instrument, make sure that the interface between the inlet and the detector column are connected to the chromatographic column, or sealed with caps.

4.5.1 FID maintenance4.5.1.1 FID structure

5.1.1 FID Structure



Figure 4-8 Schematic diagram of the structure of FID

4.5.1.2 Cool down and power off the detector

On the GC 2000 acquisition software, click Flameout to extinguish the FID flame, lower the temperature of the oven, inlet, and detector. Wait until it cools to the set value, and set the flow rate of the gases (nitrogen, hydrogen, and air) used by the FID to 0, then power off the GC.

4.5.1.3 Replace or clean nozzles

Nozzles need to be cleaned or replaced regularly. Even with normal operation, deposits (usually white silica and black carbonaceous carbon black from column bleed) can develop inside the nozzle. These deposits reduce sensitivity and cause chromatographic noise and spikes. If cleaning the nozzle, be careful not to damage the nozzle.

When changing the column or analyte, it may also be necessary to change the nozzle. For example, a packed column uses a different nozzle than a capillary column. Users must install the appropriate nozzle before replacing the column.

To replace the nozzle, the FID housing assembly must first be removed. There are three steps: remove and inspect the nozzle, clean or replace the nozzle, and install the nozzle.

• Disassemble and inspect the nozzle

(1) Properly turn off the power of the instrument as described in 4.5.1.2 Cool down and power off the detector;

(2) Loosen the four screws that fix the detector on the surface of the oven, take out the detector, and remove the detector heating block;

(3) Remove the three screws on the back of the detector holder, and the detector shell;

(4) Loosen the tightening nut with a wrench, and take out the nozzle assembly;

(5) Bring the nozzle to the front of the lamp, and check through the hole for contamination. The tube should be clean if there is no contamination or column debris.



Figure 4-9 Take out the detector and remove the detector heating block



Figure 4-10 Remove the detector housing



Figure 4-11 Remove the nozzle assembly

• Clean the nozzle

Often, it is much more convenient to replace a new nozzle than to clean a dirty nozzle, especially if the nozzle is already heavily soiled.

(1) Put the nozzle into the beaker, add acetone solution (GC grade) that can cover the nozzle, put the beaker into the ultrasonic cleaner, and use ultrasonic waves for 5 min;

(2) Take out the nozzle, rinse it with clean water, put it into a beaker with methanol solution (GC grade), then into an ultrasonic cleaner for 5 min;

(3) Take out the nozzle with tweezers, rinse it with water, put it in a clean beaker, and dry it at 100°C in the oven.

• Install the nozzle

(1) Referring to Figure 4-11, install the graphite ferrule, washer and tightening nut on the nozzle in sequence.

(2) Referring to Figure 4-10, put the nozzle assembly back into the detector fixing bracket, and use a wrench to tighten the fastening nut (do not over-tighten it).

(3) Referring to Figure 4-9, reinstall the detector housing and tighten the three screws at the bottom.

(4) Reinstall the detector in the fixed position of the instrument oven, and reconnect the chromatographic column and detector, so that normal operating conditions can be restored.

4.5.1.4 Replace the ignition wire assembly

Materials needed: new ignition wire assembly.



Figure 4-12 Ignition wire assembly

Step 1. Allow the detector to cool to room temperature. When the detector has cooled down, turn off the

Step 2. Use a wrench to loosen the ignition wire nut from the top of the detector.

Step 3. Connect the other end of the ignition cable connected to the ignition electrode to the detector signal board, and the connector can be easily found along the cable.

Step 4. Grab both sides of the cable connector and gently pull out the connector. Insert the new ignition cable into the slot in the same way.

Step 5. On the other end of the ignition cable, connect the new ignition wire assembly nut to the top of the detector and tighten with a wrench.

Step 6. Turn on the instrument and return to normal operating conditions.

4.5.1.5 FID hardware troubleshooting

The following lists some frequently encountered faults, fault causes and countermeasures in the use of FID.

If the fault cannot be solved through the methods suggested by us, or it is not within the scope listed here, please contact Drawell Technology Co., Ltd.

Fault	Reason	Solution
No ignition or flame easily extinguished	Not connected to the chromatographic column	Connect the chromatographic column
	Hydrogen/air not supplied, or hydrogen flow is too low or air flow is excessive	Ensure hydrogen/air supply, and appropriately increase hydrogen flow or reduce air flow
	Ignition wire failure (blowout)	Replace the ignition wire
	Detector temperature is too low	Increase the detector temperature, wait for the temperature to stabilize for a period of time before igniting
	Hydrogen/air EPC fault	Contact our Technical Support to replace EPC
Excessive baseline noise/severe baseline drift	The signal line is not properly connected	Check signal connection and adjust it to normal
	Gas leak	Check for leaks and repair leaks
	Accumulation of water vapor in the exhaust port	Purge the exhaust port with a high flow of gas to remove adsorbed water
	Hydrogen/air EPC fault	Contact our Technical Support
	Inlet or column contamination	Clean or replace glass liners
		Condition the column, cut the column head
	Unstable FID temperature	Investigate the temperature change of each part of the FID, if it is unstable, contact our Technical Support
No chromatographic peaks	Flameout	Reignite
	Quenching	Adjust analytical conditions to use aromatic-free solvents
	Signal cable not connected properly	Check electrical connections and repair

Table 4-3 Common FID faults and solutions

4.5.2 ECD maintenance

4.5.2.1 ECD structure



Figure 4-13 Schematic diagram of ECD structure

4.5.2.2 Note on the use of ECD

ECD has a wide range of applications in the field of analysis, and has become a problem that cannot be ignored in practical applications due to its high sensitivity and easy contamination. ECD can become contaminated by elevated temperatures when the gas is not flowing. When using an ECD, make sure that the carrier gas and makeup gas flow at the exhaust port before heating up.

Contamination of electron capture detectors generally occurs in two ways:

1) The impurities in the measured component directly capture the electrons in the ECD, which reduces the base current of the detector or increases the fundamental frequency in the galvanostatic mode, leading to louder noise and less signal-to-noise ratio;

2) The surface of the radioactive source is polluted by impurities in the measured components, which weakens the ionization ability of the radioactive source, thereby reducing the base current of ECD in DC voltage and frequency mode, or increasing the fundamental frequency in constant current mode.

Therefore, overloading of ECD should be strictly prevented during the use of ECD. In chromatographic analysis, column overload or detector overload may occur due to large injection volume (or large sample concentration). When ECD is used for the analysis of trace contaminants in environmental samples, the sample amount per peak is $(10^{-8} \sim 10^{-13})$ g. This of course does not cause column overload, but for an ECD with a narrow linear range (approximately 10⁴), it is easy to reach response saturation. When the ECD is saturated, the peak height no longer increases (or the increase is small), and the half-peak width is expanded. Therefore, when ECD is generally used, split injection is often used or the sample is diluted with a solvent to within the linear range of ECD, and then measured.

Because ECD is very sensitive, contamination of any part of the system can intensify background and noise. To ensure a clean system, both the inlet and the column should be cleaned and conditioned before use. When conditioning the column, it is necessary to use clean packing and filtered gas. In addition, users should use as less
Note:

Since the ECD is a highly sensitive detector, we strongly recommend the use of water, hydrocarbon, and oxygen scavengers for carrier gas, makeup, hydrogen, and air.

Whenever the column is disconnected from the ECD, users must first cool the ECD to avoid oxidation of the nickel source and block the inlet and vent of the ECD.

4.5.2.3 Daily maintenance of ECD

If the ECD is not used for a long time, the chromatographic column should be disconnected and the vent should be blocked to prevent oxidation of the nickel source. The operation is as follows:

(1) Lower the temperature of the ECD until the pool is cooled to room temperature, and then turn off the makeup gas;

(2) Unscrew the connecting screws of the ECD and the chromatographic column counterclockwise, and disconnect the chromatographic column;

(3) Use a chromatographic column plug to block the connection between the ECD and the chromatographic column, as well as the ECD vent with a plug.

4.5.2.4 Troubleshooting

Fault	Reason	Solution	
	1 The recorder does not enter the normal working state	1 Check the status of the recorder and whether the signal connection is correct	
	2 ECD controller is abnormal	2 Check the input voltage of the ECD controller and related working states	
The control software cannot be zeroed	3 The signal cable is not connected properly	3 Check the cable connection	
	4 The signal cable is broken.	4 Check and measure the condition of the cable with a multimeter	
	dropped or short-circuited	5 Detector contamination, conditioning at high temperature and large flow; radioactive source failure, send it to the factory for maintenance	
	5 Detector has no base current		
	1 The airflow is unstable; any leaks occur; or the purity is too low	1 Check the gas source, detect leaks, improve the purity of the gas	
	2 The column is not conditioned or	2 Decenditioning the scheme	
High baseline noise	has residue overnow	2 Reconditioning the column	
	3 ECD contamination	3 Open high temperature and large flow activation or exchange	
	4 ECD controller is broken or the base voltage is unstable	4 Replace AD515 or Zener diode	
	1 Detector temperature changes too much	1 Monitor the temperature change of the detector	
Severe baseline drift	2 Carrier or makeup gas leaks	2 Leak detection	
	3 Silicone rubber leaks at the inlet	3 Replace the silicone rubber	

Disclaimer: Private dismantling is prohibited, and the consequences without permission are at your own risk.

4.5.3 FPD maintenance

4.5.3.1 FPD structure



Figure 4-14 Schematic diagram of FPD structure

To ensure user safety and maintain system performance, the instrument's power switch needs to be turned off before any maintenance or inspection of the FPD is performed.

Warning:

The surface of the FPD is still hot when it is just turned off; make sure to cool it down to room temperature before performing maintenance operations.

Note:

When removing the PMT, please make sure that the FPD is powered off; if the PMT is exposed to light while it is charged, it is very likely to be damaged.

The fan on the FPD is to protect the filter and PMT. It will work only when the power supplies to the host. Therefore, in order to prolong the life of the filter and PMT, please do not turn it off when the temperature of the oven and FPD is still high. Turn off the power after the detector and column oven have cooled down sufficiently.

4.5.3.2 Cool down and power off the detector

On the GC 2000 acquisition software, click Flameout to extinguish the FPD flame, lower the temperature of the oven, inlet, and detector. Wait until it cools to the set value, and set the flow rate of the gas (hydrogen and air) used by the FPD to 0, then power off the GC.

4.5.3.3 Clean the quartz sleeve

If the quartz sleeve is contaminated with high boiling point substances or steam, the measurement sensitivity of the FPD will decrease. Please follow the steps below to clean or replace the quartz sleeve.

(1) Properly power off the instrument as described in 4.5.3.2 Cool down and power off the detector.

(2) Remove the FPD top cover.

(3) Unscrew the fixing screws on the upper cover of the FPD combustion chamber and remove the upper cover.

(4) At this point, the quartz sleeve can be seen; take it out with tweezers, and observe whether the surface is contaminated or damaged. In case of contamination, wash the sleeve with clean solvent, then dry and put it back into the FPD.

(5) If the quartz sleeve is damaged, replace it with a new one.



Figure 4-15 Top view, removing the top cover



Figure 4-16 Open the top cover of the combustion chamber



Figure 4-17 Take out the quartz sleeve

4.5.3.4 Filter maintenance and replacement

FPD includes sulfur (S) type, phosphorus (P) type, and tin (Sn) type. The specific type is determined by the filter. If users wish to change the element type of the FPD-specific response, the filter needs to be replaced; in addition, the contamination of the filter will lead to a decrease in the sensitivity of the FPD measurement. If any of the above occurs, follow the steps below to replace or clean the filter.

(1) Properly power off the instrument as described in 4.5.3.2 Cool down and power off the detector.

(2) Remove the PMT (together with the outer sleeve). Hold the PMT outer sleeve with both hands and slowly pull it to the right to remove it. To prevent external light from entering through the opening of the PMT outer sleeve, block the opening with aluminum foil or similar shade.

(3) Rotate the filter holder counterclockwise to remove it.

(4) Unscrew the PEEK fixing screw on the side of the small lens, and then the small lens and filter can be poured out on a clean dust-free cloth. If the surface is contaminated, wipe it with a clean soft cloth. If it still cannot be removed, use an organic solvent to wash and dry it.

(5) If it remains around or there is obvious damage with the method in Step (4), please replace the filter.

(6) Put the cleaned or replaced filter with the mirror surface facing the flame direction into the bracket, and then put the small lens with the convex surface of the lens facing the PMT, then install the PEEK fixing nut and tighten it back to the FPD.

Note:

Do not touch the surface of the lens or filter with your hands during the above operations.



Figure 4-18 Remove the PMT outer sleeve



Figure 4-19 Front sectional view of filter position



Figure 4-20 Remove the filter assembly



Figure 4-21 Remove the filter

4.5.3.5 Maintenance and replacement of the photomultiplier tube (PMT)

The performance degradation of the PMT after long-term use will lead to less sensitivity of the FPD. In this case, please follow the steps below to replace the PMT.

(1) Properly power off the instrument as described in 4.5.3.2 Cool down and power off the detector.

(2) Remove the PMT (together with the outer sleeve). Hold the PMT outer sleeve with both hands and slowly pull it to the right to remove it.

(3) Unscrew the fixing screws of the PMT and its metal sleeve, hold the PMT base, and slowly take out the base together with the PMT.

(4) Firmly and slowly unplug the old PMT from the base and insert the new PMT.

(5) Install the PMT into the sleeve and fix it according to the reverse steps, and install it on the FPD.

Note:

When installing a new PMT, the photocathode part of the PMT should be aligned with the opening of the outer sleeve, and do not install it backwards; be careful not to contaminate the light-receiving part of the PMT.



Figure 4-22 Remove the photomultiplier base



Figure 4-23 Take out the photomultiplier



Figure 4-24 Replace the Photomultiplier Tube

4.5.3.6 Troubleshooting

The following lists some common faults, fault causes and countermeasures encountered in the use of FPD.

If the fault cannot be solved through the methods suggested by us, or it is not within the scope listed here, please contact Drawell Technology Co., Ltd.

Fault	Reason	Solution	
	Not connected to the chromatographic column	Connect the chromatographic column	
	Hydrogen/air not supplied or incorrect hydrogen/air flow	Ensure hydrogen/air supply and adjust it to correct flow	
No ignition or flame easily	Ignition wire fault	Replace the ignition wire	
extinguished	Detector temperature is too low	Increase the detector temperature, wait for the temperature to stabilize for a period of time before igniting	
	Hydrogen/air EPC fault	Contact our Technical Support to replace EPC	
	The signal line is not properly connected	Check signal connection and adjust it to normal	
	Gas leak	Check for leaks and repair leaks	
	Light leakage	Find light leaks and block light with dark film	
Excessive baseline	Accumulation of water vapor in the exhaust port	Purge the exhaust port with a high flow of gas to remove adsorbed water	
noise/severe baseline drift	Hydrogen/air EPC fault	Contact our Technical Support	
		Clean or replace glass liners	
	Inlet or column contamination	Condition the column, cut the column head	
	Unstable FPD temperature	Investigate the temperature change of each part of the FPD; if it is unstable, contact our Technical Support	
	Flameout	Reignite	
	Quenching	Adjust analytical conditions	
No chromatographic peaks	Wrong filter installation	Check and reinstall	
	High-voltage wires or signal wires are not properly connected	Check electrical connections and repair	

Table 4-5 Common FPD faults and solutions

4.6 Purifier maintenance

When installing the purifier, be careful not to damage the purifier or deoxidizer, etc., during the installation process. The deoxygenation tube has a narrow capacity, and a small-sized deoxygenation tube has an oxygen capacity even of less than 30 mL. Therefore, the installation process is critical, and it is necessary to avoid the deactivation of the trap during the installation process which can shorten its service life.

If the purifier is pre-conditioned, it is not necessary to condition it before using. Nevertheless, all purifiers are subject to periodic regeneration, such as after one to four cylinders of gas are used, or when high-purity gas is not used.

To perform the regeneration method of the deoxygenation tube, users need to heat the deoxygenation tube to about 300°C under the condition of passing high-purity hydrogen, and stop heating until there is no water vapor (oxygen and hydrogen will generate water, which flows out of the deoxygenation tube in a gaseous state). After it cools down, it is necessary to reduce the hydrogen flow rate, and quickly close both ends of the deoxygenation tube under the condition of ventilation. When regenerating, users should pay attention to the safety of the use of hydrogen. If the chromatograph can be connected to a stainless steel packed column, the two ends of the deoxidizing tube are allowed to connected to a small section of stainless steel gas pipeline (the gaskets which need

User Manual of GC 2000 Laboratory Universal Gas Chromatograph 4 Instrument operation and maintenance to use graphite are 3 mm in outer diameter, and the joints at the two ends of the deoxidizing tube are generally connected to pipes with an outer diameter of 3 mm). Connect one end to the vaporization chamber and one end to the FID, then replace the carrier gas of the chromatograph with hydrogen, and check whether the excess carrier gas and makeup gas paths are closed (to prevent hydrogen from entering the oven after explode). Turn on the carrier gas again, the temperature of the column oven is raised to about 300°C, the temperature of the FID is raised to 300°C, and the vaporization chamber may not be heated. Good ventilation is required in the laboratory.

4.7 Tools and materials required for maintenance

Table 4-6 Tools and consumables for GC maintenance

Common tools	Function	Article No.
Toolkit	Adjustable wrench for unscrewing the adapter nut	
	Inch full-polished double open-end wrench 1/4"*5/16" for screwing the column nut at the inlet and detector end	
	Metric fully polished double open-end wrench 10*12mm for screwing the air source connection port	
	Socket wrench for unscrewing the flow path adapter block	
	Phillips screwdriver for unscrewing screws	
Routine maintenance consumables and parts	Function	Article No.
Inlet septum 11 mm	Seal the inlet. The inlet septum is a consumable that needs to be checked regularly and replaced as needed.	1440600371
Ultra-inert splitless liner	It is used when the splitless injection mode is selected, mainly for low concentration samples, such as water environment samples, food samples, and water purification plant samples. Compared with ordinary splitless liner, the ultra-inert splitless liner can effectively prevent adsorption, primarily for easily adsorbed samples, such as easily adsorbed pesticide residues.	
Split liner	It is used when the split injection mode is selected, mainly for high-concentration samples, such as leachate samples from waste treatment plants, and industrial wastewater samples.	1360400910
O-ring (for liner)	It is designed to divide the entire injection chamber for use on the liner. O-rings are consumables that need to be inspected regularly and replaced as needed.	1330900469
Splitter plate	It supports the liner and guides the carrier gas split, and generally the splitter plate does not need to be replaced. However, in the case of dirty samples, ghost peaks appear in the chromatogram, users may check whether the splitter plate is worn out or contaminated, and choose cleaning or replacement	
Vespel and graphite hybrid clamp ring (1/16" x 0.4mm)	Commonly used in the inlet/detector and column joints; and able to play a role in sealing thanks to its high temperature resistance. After cutting the column head or replacing other chromatographic columns, if the original pressure ring is deformed, it needs to be replaced. For 0.25 mm columns	1330900260
Vespel and graphite hybrid clamp ring (1/16" x 0.5mm)	For 0.32 mm columns	1330900060
Column ferrule fittings (metric)	It is used to fix the connection between the chromatographic column and the inlet, and generally does not need to be replaced.	1320300206
Syringe	It is placed in the autosampler for sampling and injection. Normally, it does not need to be replaced. If the injection needle is contaminated or blocked by impurities in the sample, choose cleaning. After cleaning, if it is still blocked, replace the syringe.	1440600188

5 Troubleshooting and analysis

5.1 Prompt information

The instrument regularly monitors the status of inlets, ovens, detectors, EPC modules, circuit boards and other components. If there is a fault, the running status and instrument status will display a fault prompt, which can be viewed in the alarm query. If a malfunction causes serious damage to the instrument or is dangerous to users, it will automatically stop the malfunctioning component from working.

5.1.1 Prompt information

Not ready: It occurs when some part of the instrument is not operating at normal operating conditions. When the instrument is not ready, the workstation software will have a corresponding prompt.

Alarm: The prompt means that there is a fault, and the instrument will have a corresponding alarm prompt at this time.

Fault: The prompt points out the hardware faults and other component faults that can cause great harm, which users should pay attention to. At this point, the instrument will stop all commands and actions being executed.

The fault can only disappear after the instrument clears the fault and activates the method twice.

5.2 Warnings and faults

See Table 5-1 for warnings and fault prompts. Users can maintain some problems by themselves, and some hardware problems need to be handled by the maintenance personnel of Drawell Technology Co., Ltd.

Table 5-1 introduces the common faults of the gas chromatograph and the corresponding treatment methods.

	Alarm code	Fault prompt	Cause of fault	Troubleshooting
Main board Alarm code	0x01	Self-check indicates the main board 5V voltage is abnormal	Main board 5V voltage is abnormal	Contact the after-sales maintenance personnel to check the 5V power module
	0x02	Self-check indicates the main board 3.3V voltage is abnormal	Main board 3.3V voltage is abnormal	Contact the after-sales maintenance personnel to check the 3.3V power module
	0x05	Self-check indicates the off-chip EEPROM of the main board is abnormal	The off-chip EEPROM storage of the main board failed	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the EEPROM chip
	0x06	Operating temperature of the main board is abnormal	Ambient temperature is too high	Check ambient temperature
	0x07	DAC124 is abnormal	DAC124 voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the DAC124 chip
	0x08	Main board AD7124 sampling is abnormal	AD7124 acquisition failed	Contact the after-sales maintenance personnel to check the AD7124 chip
	0x10	Column oven out of temperature range	Column oven temperature range overrun	Contact the after-sales service personnel to check the oven PT100
	0x12	Column oven heating is abnormal	Slow heating rate	Contact after-sales service personnel to check the heating module

Table 5-1 GC 2000 Fault Prompts and Troubleshooting

	0x14	The front door of the column oven is abnormal	The front door of the column oven is not closed	Check if the front door is closed
	0x20	Front inlet out of temperature range	Temperature sensor range overrun	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check PT100
	0x21	Front inlet heating is abnormal	Slow heating rate	Contact after-sales service personnel to check the heating module
	0x22	Rear inlet out of temperature range	Temperature sensor range overrun	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check PT100
	0x23	Rear inlet heating is abnormal	Slow heating rate	Slow heating rate
	0x24	Front detector out of temperature range	Temperature sensor range overrun	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check PT100
	0x25	Front detector heating is abnormal	Slow heating rate	Contact after-sales service personnel to check the heating module
	0x26	Rear detector out of temperature range	Temperature sensor range overrun	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check PT100
	0x27	Rear detector heating is abnormal	Slow heating rate	Contact after-sales service personnel to check the heating module
	0x30	Communication fault of the EPC board of the front inlet	Communication fault of the EPC/EFC board of the front inlet	Check EPC communication
	0x31	Communication fault of the EPC board of the rear inlet	Communication fault of the EPC/EFC board of the rear inlet	Check EPC communication
	0x32	Communication fault of the EPC board of the front detector	Communication fault of the flow control board of the front detector	Check EPC communication
	0x33	Communication fault of the EPC board of the rear detector	Communication fault of the flow control board of the rear detector	Check EPC communication
	0x34	Communication fault of Auxiliary 1 EPC board	Communication fault of Auxiliary module 1 flow control board	Check EPC communication
	0x35	Communication fault of Auxiliary 2 EPC board	Communication fault of Auxiliary module 2 flow control board	Check EPC communication
	0x38	Communication fault of the signal board of the front detector	Communication fault of the sub-board of the front detector	Check detector signal board communication
	0x39	Communication fault of the signal board of the rear detector	Communication fault of the sub-board of the rear detector	Check detector signal board communication
EPC Sub-board Alarm code	0x01	Front inlet/rear inlet/front detector/rear detector/auxiliary 1/auxiliary 2 VCC-FLOW is abnormal	Abnormal supply voltage	Contact the after-sales maintenance personnel to check the flow supply voltage
	0x02	Front inlet/rear inlet/front detector/rear detector/auxiliary 1/auxiliary 2 external DA/AD is abnormal	DA output voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales service personnel to check DA output or AD sampling
	0x03	Front inlet/rear inlet/front detector/rear detector/auxiliary 1/auxiliary 2 off-chip EEPROM is abnormal	Off-chip EEPROM is abnormal	Contact the after-sales service personnel to check the off-chip EEPROM chip
	0x10	Front inlet/rear inlet Total	Inlet total flow range	Check gas circuit or sensor

		flow range overrun	overrun	
	0x11	Front inlet/rear inlet Total flow control is abnormal	The deviation between the actual value of the total flow and the set value exceeds the range	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x12	Front inlet/rear inlet/aux 1/aux 2 pre-column pressure range overrun	Precolumn pressure range overrun	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x13	Front inlet/rear inlet/auxiliary 1/auxiliary 2 column front pressure control is abnormal	The deviation between the actual value of pre-column pressure and the set value exceeds the range	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x16	Front detector/rear detector hydrogen/reference gas flow range overrun	Detector hydrogen/reference gas flow range overrun	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x17	Front detector/rear detector hydrogen/reference gas flow control is abnormal	The deviation between the actual value of hydrogen/reference gas flow and the set value exceeds the range	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x18	Front detector/rear detector air flow range overrun	Detector air flow range overrun	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x19	Front detector/rear detector air flow control is abnormal	The deviation between the actual value of the air flow of the detector and the set value exceeds the range	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x1a	Front detector/rear detector makeup flow range overrun	Detector makeup flow range overrun	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x1b	Front detector/rear detector makeup flow control is abnormal	The deviation between the actual value of the makeup flow of the detector and the set value exceeds the range	Check gas circuit or sensor
	0x01	Front detector/rear detector 5VA voltage is abnormal	Detector 5VA voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the voltage chip module
	0x02	Front detector/rear detector 5VD voltage is abnormal	Detector 5VD voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the voltage chip module
Detector sub-board Alarm code	0x03	Front detector/rear detector 10V voltage is abnormal	Detector 10V voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the voltage chip module
	0x04	Front detector/rear detector 12V voltage is abnormal	Detector 12V voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the voltage chip module
	0x05	Front detector/rear detector 24V voltage is abnormal	Detector 24V voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the voltage chip module
	0x10	Front detector/rear detector HV voltage is abnormal	Detector HV voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the HV power supply chip module
	0x11	Front detector/rear detector fan voltage is abnormal	Detector fan voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales maintenance personnel to check the fan power supply chip module
	0x12	Front detector/rear detector ignition voltage is abnormal	Detector ignition voltage is abnormal	Contact after-sales service personnel to check the ignition system

0x13	Front detector/rear detector EEPROM is abnormal	Write and read is abnormal	Contact the after-sales service personnel to check the off-chip EEPROM chip
0x14	Front detector/rear detector ignition failure	Ignition failure	Check ignition system and gas circuit
0x15	Front detector/rear detector flameout	Flameout	Check ignition system and gas circuit

Note: f5 represents the main board; 10 represents the front inlet EPC sub-board; 11 represents the rear inlet EPC sub-board; 12 represents the front detector EPC sub-board; 13 represents the rear detector EPC sub-board; 14 represents the auxiliary 1 EPC sub-board; 15 represents the auxiliary 2 EPC sub-board; 20 represents the front detector signal board; and 21 represents the rear detector signal board. For example: main board alarm code 0xf501; EPC sub-board alarm code 0x1012; detector sub-board alarm code 0x2014.



Drawell International Technology Limited

Shanghai Drawell Scientific Instrument Co.,Ltd.



Chongqing Drawell Instrument Co.,Ltd.

Add:Suite 2705,Building No.12,Shiyou Road No.1,Yuzhong District, Chongqing,China

Tel: 0086-023-63268643

Web : www.drawell.com.cn

Email : sales05@drawell.com.cn